
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Our Ref: JB

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Wednesday 29 March 2017

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 6th April, 2017 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific questions, 
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days 
before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this will be 
provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack





Council
06 April 2017

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 16

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2017.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 17 - 18

To include the following presentations:

a) Charter Plus Award  

Presentation by Tom Fitzpatrick, representing EELGA.

b) Fundraising Crohn's and Colitis UK  

Presentation from Crohn’s and Colitis UK to the Executive Member for 
People and Information.

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. CABINET MINUTES 19 - 23

Unconfirmed minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 21 March 2017.

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 24 - 30

Unconfirmed minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 16 February 2017.

10. PLANNING COMMITTEE 31 - 44

Unconfirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 6 March 2017.

11. COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY 45 - 48

Unconfirmed minutes of the Committee of the Licensing Authority meeting held 



Council
06 April 2017

on Wednesday 22 March 2017.

12. LICENSING COMMITTEE 49 - 51

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting held on 22 March 
2017.

13. GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 52 - 60

Unconfirmed minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting held on 
24 February 2017.

14. REVIEW OF LOCAL STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS 61 - 82

Report of the Executive Director – Strategy & Governance (Monitoring Officer)

15. CAMBRIDGE NORWICH TECH CORRIDOR (CNTC) 83 - 89

Report of the Executive Member Growth and Commercialisation.

16. LGA CORPORATE PEER REVIEW REPORT 90 - 110

Report of the Leader of the Council.

17. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.

18. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

19. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.

Page(s)
herewith



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 23 February 2017 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T J Ashby
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mrs E J Bishop
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Councillor C Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr T R Carter
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S H Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Councillor E. Gould
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mrs S.M. Matthews

Mrs K. Millbank (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr T F C Monument
Mr M J Nairn
Mr J Newton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D R R Oliver
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr I. Sherwood
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mr M Taylor
Mr M. A. Wassell
Mrs A M Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P S Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer BDC)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By
25/17MINUTES 

Minute reference 7/17 - Councillor Newton felt that whilst the minutes were not 
verbatim, his question had not been reflected correctly in the minutes.  The 
Chairman asked what specifically had been omitted from the minutes.  Councillor 
Newton said the question itself had been omitted.  No amendment to the minute 
was requested.

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2017 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

5

Agenda Item 1



Council
23 February 2017

2

26/17APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Askew, Crawford, Duffield, 
Hewett, Joel, Jolly, Martin and Turner.

27/17DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Councillor Stasiak declared an interest in Agenda Item 9 (b), the unconfirmed 
minutes of the Planning Committee, meeting held 6 February 2017, Minute 
reference 18/17 (h).

28/17CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Chairman introduced the new Executive Director Commercialisation, Christine 
Marshall to Members.

Members were informed that the Wayland Show Ball would be taking place on 22 
April at Lynford Hall, and the money raised would also be going towards the 
SSAFA Charity.

The Chairman said that Item 13 – Petition – Cottage Hospital, Thetford, would be 
heard between items 5 and 6.

29/17LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Leader informed Members that he would be cycling across the Jordan Dessert 
at the end of April, and he would do this as a Charity event in aid of the Chairman’s 
charity, SSAFA.

The Leader went on to give an update on the following:

 Unitary Status – there was no further update at the moment.  He felt that 
there could be more debate in the future around hostile bids but it 
depended on a decision made by the Secretary of State.

 Local Plan – was currently being finalised with Local Plan Working Group 
meetings scheduled for the 15 and 17 March.  This would be considered by 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission on 6 April and going onto Cabinet then 
Council in May.

 LGA Peer Review – a presentation would be given to Members in due 
course

 Unsightly Sites – a report from Overview and Scrutiny would be presented 
to the Cabinet in support of the concept of creating a list of priorities and 
actions in respect of unsightly sites across the District.  The Leader had 
responded to the challenge by Councillor Jermy to write to the owners of 
the Cottage Hospital, Thetford who have said they would be coming forward 
with proposals to seek planning permission to progress the site.

30/17QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

The following question was received under Standing Order No. 6 from Councillor 
Gilbert, addressed to the Chief Executive.

1) What was the total amount collected from the residents of Watton under the 
special expense for street lighting in the financial year 2016 to 2017? 

2) How much of this was spent on “A” Power, “B” maintenance, “C” 
replacements? 

Action By

6



Council
23 February 2017

3

3) What is the total proposed amount to be charged to the residents of Watton 
under the special expense for street lighting in the financial year 2017 to 
2018? 

4) How much of this is being budgeted for “A” power, “B” maintenance, “C” 
replacements?  

RESPONSE:
1) £18,914.90 (equivalent to £7.97 per year for a Band D property)
2) £14,186.43 (equivalent to £5.77 per year for a Band D property) at a £4.95 

council tax rise option
3) See over page for the breakdown of the budget for each year & where it is 

forecast to be spent.
4) The special expenses shown are based on estimated amounts, as, due to 

timing of setting budgets, we set the budget for 17-18 before the 16-17 year 
has finished.  You will therefore see in each year an adjustment for 2 years 
previous where there is either a credit (if the town has been overcharged) or 
a cost (if the town has been under charged).

Watton Special Expenses Charge

2016-17 2017-18
Energy Costs 9,584.03 9,493.27 
Amey Works 1,853.29 1,850.00 
NCC Management & Admin 
Costs 1,755.54 1,756.06 
Sub Total - NCC Charges 13,192.86 13,099.33 

Repairs Allowance 1,222.12 1,628.24 
Breckland Recharge 2,774.91 2,868.90 
Breckland Funding (2,746.63) (1,950.40) 
Total Budget 14,443.26 15,646.07 

Adjustment for 14-15 Actuals 4,471.63 0.00 
Adjustment for 15-16 Actuals 0.00 (1,459.63) 
Actual Charge to Watton 
Residents 18,914.89 14,186.44 

Band D Equivalent Change 
Per Year  £              7.97  £              5.77 

31/17QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

Councillor Gilbert thanked the Executive Member for Finance for his answer on the 
street lighting, but said the response did not show the split between maintenance 
or replacement of lights.  The Executive Member Finance explained that the 
spreadsheet showed £1850 for both years which was an estimate, which could not 
be divided in to further detail.  However money could be saved if the Town were to 
take control of their own street lighting.

Councillor Jermy asked the Executive Member for Growth for an update on the 
take-up of the units at Thetford Riverside.  The Executive Member Growth 
confirmed that TLC Inns had confirmed their tenancy on two units adjacent to the 
cinema.  There were conversations with a third operator for one unit, and 

Action By

7



Council
23 February 2017

4

discussions were being held nationally with regard to the remaining two units.

Councillor Clarke asked the Executive Member for Finance if council tax support 
scheme had been reduced for the 17/18 budget, and why £720k would be going 
into the growth fund when perhaps this should be within the area where the 
development had taken place.  The Executive Member for Finance confirmed the 
council tax support scheme would be reduced over the coming 4 years as it was 
being phased out.  With regard to the growth fund there would be a significant 
amount being invested into this which would be to the benefit of all residents.

Councillor Gilbert referred back to his street lighting query and said that six street 
lights had been removed from Lovell Gardens and he had received conflicting 
responses as to whether they would be replaced within budget.  The Leader of the 
Council responded that if a street light had deemed to be unsafe then it would be 
removed.  A report would be presented at a future Cabinet meeting which would 
outline all columns assessed and consider what options would be available for the 
Council going forward.

32/17CABINET 

RESOLVED that:

a) Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan

1. To approve the updated Breckland Bridge Ltd Business Plan for 2017-2022 
as set out in appendices A to D of the Cabinet report.

2. To agree the Bridge recommendation to initiate a project to create a 
Thetford Town Asset Plan and in doing so:

a) Provide up to £130,000 (spread over three years).
b) Delegate the release of the funds to the S.151 Officer subject to 

receiving satisfactory information on the project plan, delivery plan 
and expected outputs.

3. To defer the Bridge recommendation to deliver a programme of minor 
development schemes in a 50/50 arrangement by:

a) Providing £82,500 as an initial equity share in the required 
subsidiary for the first three sites and £10,000 for legal and tax 
advice.

b) Agreeing the first three sites as Rougholme Close (Gressenhall), 
Glebe Road (Thetford) and Tottington Road (Thompson).

c) Subject to Legal advice confirming such an arrangement can be 
undertaken and if so delegate the release of the funds to the S.151 
Officer subject to satisfactory receipt of the necessary tax advice 
and satisfactory returns from the first three sites.

b) Arts council Funding – The Silver Social Project
That agreement is given to receive and spend grant funding of £185,773 
from Arts Council England for delivery of the Silver Social project in 
accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the funder.

c) Budget Setting, Medium Term Plan & Capital Strategy
This item was discussed under Agenda Item 14.

d) Quarter 3 Financial Performance Report
That the full year end underspend is contributed to the Organisational 
Development Reserve to fund timing delays in the Moving Forward 
Programme 2017-18.

Action By

8



Council
23 February 2017

5

ADOPTION the unconfirmed minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 February 
2017 be adopted.

33/17PLANNING COMMITTEE 

33 .a 9 January 2017  

It was highlighted that the minutes referred to the challenge made by Parsons 
and Whittley and the response made was emailed to Members for information.  
This had not yet been actioned. 

RESOLVED that the confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee held on 9 
January 2017 be adopted.

33 .b 6 February 2017  

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 
2017 be adopted.

34/17COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority meeting held on 11 January 2017 be adopted.

35/17LICENSING COMMITTEE 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting 
held on 11 January 2017 be adopted.

36/17MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PANEL 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed minutes of the Member Development Panel 
meeting held on 12 January be noted.

37/17PETITION - COTTAGE HOSPITAL, THETFORD 

Mr Brindle presented to Members a petition that asked the Council to consider the 
Cottage Hospital Thetford, and bring back to life a building that had been empty for 
the past 10 years. He said there had been great support within Thetford for the 
iconic site and asked the Council to break the deadlock.

Councillor Jermy said he had walked the pavements to collect signatures for the 
petition and it had been lovely to hear the stories that people told of their memories 
of the old hospital.  He felt that 1800 signatures was an achievement, and also 
thanked the Leader of Breckland Council for the work that had been done.  He 
added that there were aspirations for the use of the building but felt the main point 
would be positive whatever the outcome of the planning process.  He thanked the 
Council’s approach for the district wide consideration of derelict sites and hoped 
the exercise would bring positive usage for disused buildings across the district.

Councillor Bishop fully endorsed what the Leader had said, but felt Mr Brindle 
should have contacted the Council in the first instance before the petition was 
raised.

Councillor Brame congratulated the Leader on the proactive response.  He felt this 

Action By

9



Council
23 February 2017

6

issue had moved really quickly and that Members were looking at a strategic 
approach into what the council could legally do with disused buildings. 

Councillor Hollis fully agreed with the renovations of the hospital and endorsed the 
swift action of the Council.  She was concerned with the accuracy of the petition in 
that there was no way of clarifying how the signatures had been acquired.

Councillor Robinson also thanked the Leader for his consistency and for listening 
to the issues of Thetford.

The Leader said he had fond memories of the Cottage Hospital in Thetford.  He 
thanked Mr Brindle for the petition and said if nothing else it showed the strength of 
feeling on the topic, and that it can bring communities together.

It was RESOLVED that the Leader would continue to be in dialogue with the 
owners of the building to ensure the site was put into productive use.

38/17BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM PLAN & CAPITAL STRATEGY 

The Executive Member Finance presented the report outlining that the Council was 
in a strong financial position thanks to the historical foresight of Members.  The 
entrepreneurial approach had enabled the Council to protect services to residents, 
as well as achieve projects.  The report included a recommendation to allocate 
£100,000 for specialist advice to move projects forward.  A consultation had been 
carried out, and there had not been any response with regards to a proposed 
council tax increase.

The Executive Member for Finance proposed that recommendations referred to at 
paragraph 2.2 of the report be approved.

Councillor Jermy understood the need to increase council tax but was concerned 
that any increase did not take into account means.  Vulnerable residents received a 
91.5% discount and therefore any increase would be disproportionate.  He had 
calculated that providing 100% discount would cost the council an extra £15,000 
per annum and if such protection was introduced he would support the budget.  
However, he could not do this if vulnerable residents were not supported by in this 
way.

Councillor Jermy asked the Council for an amendment to the recommendations 
and consider undertaking a 12-week consultation with a view to implementing a 
100% increase.  Councillor Clarke seconded this proposal.

The Leader of the Council had raised the issue in the past, however consultation 
with colleagues, Police and Norfolk County Council would need to take place to 
seek full support of the 100% discount.  He was in support to undertake the 
consultation, but would not agree on spending the money now.

Councillor Dimoglou added that if Breckland Council allowed the 100% council tax 
relief people would be less inclined to move forward and felt the £7.00 per month 
was achievable for most.

Councillor Jermy said however that even the small amount was an incredible 
amount when you had nothing.  The 100% discount could make all the difference 
to those people. 

The amendment to the proposed recommendations was not agreed.  

Action By

10



Council
23 February 2017

7

Councillor Clarke proposed an amendment by asking the Council to create a fixed 
term position for a Market Town Co-ordinator.  He felt the market towns were 
struggling and this role would help the towns to generate income.

The Chairman asked Councillor Clark to provide a specific and clear amendment 
that provided sufficient detail.  Councillor Wassell added that it would have been 
helpful if this had been suggested at an earlier stage so that it could be considered 
thoroughly.

Councillor Jermy added that the proposal was crucial for the market towns, and 
suggested that the additional finance could be drawn from the New Homes Bonus, 
as this was how it worked at South Norfolk council.

Councillor Monument agreed with the suggestion but would like to have seen a 
detailed report and to hear from South Norfolk about the role.

Councillor Chapman-Allen said it was a corporate priority to support the market 
towns and it would be a cabinet item in the future to discuss how to work with the 
towns to support them moving forward. 

Councillor Clarke had heard the comments, and asked the amendment still be 
considered.  The amendment to the proposed recommendation was not agreed.  

The Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) reminded members for 
the purpose of clarity, that they would be voting as outlined in paragraph 2.2 of the 
report.  Councillor Wassell proposed and Councillor Dimoglou seconded the 
recommendation. 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on the recommendations below. The 
vote was as follows:

For

Councillors:

Against

Councillor:

Abstain

Councillors:

Apologies / 
Not Present

Councillors:
Ashby Clarke Hollis Askew
Bambridge Jermy Crawford
Bishop Newton Duffield
Brame Hewett
Borrett Joel
Bowes Jolly
Carter Martin
M Chapman-Allen Sherwood
S Chapman-Allen Smith
Claussen Taylor
Cowen Turner
Darby
Dimoglou
Duigan
Gilbert
Gould
Matthews
Millbank

Action By

11



Council
23 February 2017

8

L Monument
T Monument
Nairn
Nunn
Oliver
R Richmond
W Richmond
Robinson
Rogers
Sharpe
Stasiak
Wassell
Webb
Wilkin
Wilkinson

It was RESOLVED that:
1) The Breckland revenue estimates and parish special expenses for 2017-18 

and outline position through to 2020-21, as set out in Appendix B2 and E2 
are approved;

2) The capital estimates and associated funding for 2017-18 and outline 
position through to 2020-21 (as set out in Appendix H) are approved;

3) The discretionary business rates relief for local newspapers for up to 2 
years as detailed in Appendix I is approved;

4) The fees and charges shown at Appendix D and D2, for adoption on 1 April 
2017, are approved;

5) The Council Tax in the medium term plan be set at £4.95 increase per year 
(£78.93 for a Band D property in 2017-18);

6) The financial Medium term plan at Appendix A 2 is approved;
7) The capital strategy at Appendix G is approved;
8) That £100,000 is allocated in the Organisational Development Reserve to 

fund feasibility studies for growth and investment projects which will 
generate a return to the Council.  That release of funding for individual 
feasibility studies be delegated to the S151 Officer in conjunction with the 
Strategic Growth Group and Finance Board in consultation with the Leader 
or Deputy Leader.

39/17COUNCIL TAX SETTING 2017-18 

The Executive Member Finance asked Members to approve recommendations two 
and four of the report.

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on the recommendations below. The 
vote was as follows:

For

Councillors:

Against

Councillor:

Abstain

Councillors:

Apologies / 
Not Present

Councillors:
Ashby Clarke Hollis Askew
Bambridge Jermy Crawford
Bishop Newton Duffield
Brame Hewett
Borrett Joel

Action By

12



Council
23 February 2017

9

Bowes Jolly
Carter Martin
M Chapman-Allen Sherwood
S Chapman-Allen Smith
Claussen Taylor
Cowen Turner
Darby
Dimoglou
Duigan
Gilbert
Gould
Matthews
Millbank
Mrs Monument
Mr Monument
Nairn
Nunn
Oliver
R Richmond
W Richmond
Robinson
Rogers
Sharpe
Stasiak
Wassell
Webb
Wilkin
Wilkinson

It was RESOLVED that:
1. Full Council approves the special expenses for 2017-18 (at paragraph 

1.3.2) based on a £4.95 council tax rise.
2. Full Council approves the formal council tax resolutions for 2017-18 (at 

paragraph 1.4.6 to 1.4.10) based on a £4.95 council tax rise.

40/17CORPORATE PLAN REFRESH 2017-18 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report but suggested that an amendment to the 
wording of the recommendation such that the contents of the report were agreed 
and the Annual Corporate Plan Refresh 2017-18 be adopted.

Councillor Jermy said the achievement of the Council was making a difference to 
the residents lives.

The Chairman added that delivering the Early Help Hub and the Riverside Project 
had been an excellent achievement.

Councillor Cowen concurred with the comments and added that the document 
underscored the commitment to see growth and significant changes in all market 
towns.

RESOLVED that the contents of the report are agreed and the Annual Corporate 
Plan Refresh 2017-18 is adopted.

Action By

13



Council
23 February 2017

10

41/17NORWICH CITY COUNCIL SECTION 113 AGREEMENT 

The Executive Member Finance introduced the report and Paul Corney, Head of 
the Anglia Revenues Partnership to Members.

Paul Corney informed Members that it was proposed the Strategic Management 
team would manage the Norwich City Council Team, acting as their Head of 
Service.  Some costs would be shared between the partners of the Anglia 
Revenues Partnership and there would be future potential partner for the 
Enforcement Agency leading to additional efficiencies. 

Councillor Cowen thanked Mr Corney and his team for the outstanding work 
carried out.

Councillor Brame also added that it would continue to provide additional job 
security for those within Thetford.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) The report be noted;
2) That Breckland Council instruct the ARP Operational Improvement Board to 

negotiate and enter into a Section 113 agreement with Norwich City Council 
so that Officers services can be placed at all authorities disposal (shared);

3) That approval is given for the ARP management team to start working with 
Norwich City Council immediately to carry out any necessary work prior to 
the 1 April 2017 that will assist with the commencement of the agreement.

42/17HR POLICY HANDBOOK 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report informing Members that following their request 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission had reviewed the HR Policy handbook.

This would be a key publication for staff to use which derived from 11 key policies 
and would be a user friendly document for staff.  A key amendment was with 
regard to the maternity support of up to 5-days which would be on a discretionary 
basis.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) the HR Policy Handbook be approved to implement across Breckland District 

Council with the following delegations and consideration:

a) That should any amendment to policy be required as a result of legislative 
or constitutional change, of which we as an organisation have no 
jurisdiction, that this be delegated to the Head of Paid Service in order to 
ensure a prompt response to such changes and mitigate risk of application 
of said policy in line with employment law.

 An information paper will be submitted to Full Council where 
legislative changes have occurred.

b) That permission is granted to implement Maternity Support Leave at 
Breckland District Council, again to provide additional support to new 
fathers/partners at the time of birth or adoption of their child.  This is not a 
statutory/constitutional obligation but, if approved, will form part of the 
Councils’ procedure. 
Maternity support leave of up to 5 days with pay shall be granted, at or 
around the time of birth, to employees who are the child’s father or partner 

Action By

14



Council
23 February 2017

11

of an expectant mother, or to any employee nominated as carer to assist in 
the care of the child and to provide support to the mother.

43/17PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2017/18 

It was RESOLVED that the Pay Policy Statement be approved.

44/17NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 

None.

45/17AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

None.

46/17ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 

None.

47/17EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 1, 2 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

48/17LEGAL SERVICES REVIEW 

The Executive Manager Governance introduced the report which related to the 
staffing structure of the Legal Services Team which had been reviewed as part of 
the organisational design strand of the Transformation Programme.

The report sought approval to proceed with the implementation of the proposal to 
restructure the service.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) The Head of Paid Service and/or the Executive Director for Strategy and 

Governance, in consultation with the Executive Member for Governance, be 
authorised to implement the proposals subject to no major change.

2) The Head of Paid Service and/or the Executive Director for Strategy and 
Governance, in consultation with the Executive Member for Governance, be 
authorised to make minor amendments and to undertake any incidental and 
consequential actions necessary to implement the proposals.

49/17PUBLIC PROTECTION SERVICE REVIEW 

The Executive Member for People and Information presented the report.

Councillor Jermy asked if formal consultation had taken place and the Executive 
Manager for Public Protection confirmed this had been dealt with.

Councillor Bambridge said it was an excellent report and was pleased to see how 
the department had been very innovative.

It was RESOLVED that recommendation 1 be approved as follows:

Action By

15



Council
23 February 2017

12

That the Head of Paid Service and/or the Executive Director for Strategy and 
Governance, in consultation with the Executive Member for People and Information 
be authorised to implement the proposals subject to no major change.

50/17NEW BRECKLAND PAY SCHEME: PERFORMANCE RELATED INCREMENTS 
(PRI) SCHEME 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report to Members, informing that it had already 
been to Overview and Scrutiny who had recommended that a review was carried 
out after the first year of implementation (May 2018).

It was asked if the Unions had been consulted and it was confirmed that they had 
and were content with the report.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) That Council adopts the Performance Related Increments Scheme and 

associated Policy (Appendix A) to take effect from 01 April 2017 (to be phased 
in as per proposal at Appendix B)

2) That Council agrees to the minimum ‘Assimilation Benefit’ as per proposal at 
Appendix B

3) That the Performance Related Increments scheme covers all staff (including 
Chief Officers), excluding staff currently covered by the ARP Pay Scheme

4) That delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive to agree the annual 
‘Basic Performance Increase’ in-line with agreed budgets

5) That delegated authority is given to EMT to introduce additional staff benefit 
schemes, to include a Holiday Purchase scheme and appropriate salary 
sacrifice schemes

51/17CAPITA BRIEFING 

Members were provided with an update by the Director of Capita Planning & 
Building Control.

The meeting closed at 12.10 pm

CHAIRMAN

Action By

16



Engagement List - Chairman

23rd February – 5th April 2017

Date Event Host

13th March, 
2017

Fly a flag for the Commonwealth Breckland Council Chairman

Bill Borrett

16th March, 
2017

Chairman’s Reception Breckland Council Chairman

Bill Borrett

17th March, 
2017

The fifth anniversary of the signing of 
the Norfolk Armed Forces Community 

Covenant

Chairman of Norfolk County Council & the 
Armed Forces Commissioner for Norfolk

20th March, 
2017

Lord Lieutenant’s Cadet Awards 
Ceremony

Colonel Jamie Athill

Chairman of the Norfolk County Forum of the 
Reserve Forces & Cadets Association of East 

Anglia

24th March, 
2017

Chairman’s Civic Reception Chairman of Broadland

District Council, Councillor John Ward & Mrs 
Rita Ward

31st March, 
2017

Chairman’s Civic Reception South Holland District Council

4th April, 2017 Presentation of the British Empire 
Medal

Richard Jewson J.P.

HM Lord-Lieutenant of Norfolk

17

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List - Vice-Chairman

23rd February – 5th April 2017

Date Event Host

5th March, 
2017

Joint Civic Service Chairman of Broadland District Council & Mayor 
of Thorpe St Andrew

13th March, 
2017

Fly a flag for the Commonwealth Breckland Council Chairman

Bill Borrett

16th March, 
2017

Chairman’s Reception Breckland Council Chairman

Bill Borrett

31st March, 
2017

Civic Reception Mayor of Swaffham

Cllr Paul Darby

18



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 21 March 2017 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S H Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mrs A M Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr D M Crawford
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mrs J. Hollis

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr J Newton
Mr P S Wilkinson

In Attendance
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Richard Boole - Environmental Protection Manager (shared)
Susan Heinrich - Neighbourhood Planning Coordinator
Stephen James - Communities Manager
Tim Mills
Teresa Smith

- Executive Manager Growth
- Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

30/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017 were confirmed and 
signed by the Chairman. 

31/17 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Councillor Robinson.

32/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

33/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

Public Document Pack

19

Agenda Item 8



Cabinet
21 March 2017

2

34/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Crawford, Darby, Hollis, Matthews, Newton, Wilkinson.

35/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Chairman requested to move Agenda item 12 to Item 7 due to the public 
in attendance.

36/17 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

37/17 UNSIGHTLY SITES REPORT 

The Executive Member for Place presented the report informing Members 
that they would be invited to bring forward specific sites for consideration.  He 
explained that this had been discussed at Overview and Scrutiny, and an 
example of the type of site that would be considered was the garage site in 
Necton.

Councillor Dimoglou welcomed the report but expressed concern on the 
delivery of the project, and it should focus on a small number to enable 
successful delivery.

Councillor Cowen said it was an important initiative and it would also 
encourage land owners to do something under their own volition.

Councillor S Chapman-Allen asked if the Town and Parish Councils would be 
involved in this initiative.  Councillor Claussen agreed that ward Members 
would be consulted and added that it would also enable the council to work 
across the portfolios.

The Chief Executive advised Members that the programme of work should 
remain tight to enable successful delivery.  The Executive Director of Place 
would consider a programme that would be affordable for the Council.

The Executive Director Place added that there would be a number of powers 
that the council could use, and that sites would be prioritised with the portfolio 
holder to focus on the biggest impact.

Options
Do nothing – this option would result in no, or limited and uncoordinated, 
action being taken on unsightly and derelict sites and land, with these sites 
therefore remaining in a state that continues to significantly and adversely 
impact on the communities within which they are set.  This option is not 
recommended.
Agree with the recommendation – This option would enable officers to focus 
their efforts in securing, through a variety of negotiated and punitive 
measures, significant improvements to sites that currently adversely affect the 
communities within which they are set.

Reasons
To promote a co-ordinated approach to positive intervention on those sites 
which have a major detrimental effect upon the character, appearance and 

Action By

20



Cabinet
21 March 2017

3

well-being of the communities within which they are set.

It was RESOLVED that Cabinet agree to undertake a programme of work to 
address unsightly and derelict sites and land in the district.

38/17 Q3 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation highlighted to Members that one indicator had been reported 
as red which related to the short term investment forecast.  He added that 
following feedback from the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, the report 
format would be changed to make it easier to understand.

Councillor Dimoglou explained that the short term investment income forecast 
was shown as a variance which was within a target.

The content of the report was noted.

39/17 SWAFFHAM AIR QUALITY REPORT 

The Executive Member People and Information presented the report 
informing Members that the Local Authority has a duty for local air 
management and to undertake annual air quality reviews.

Councillor Darby said he had received comments from residents and asked if 
London Street could be included in the assessment.  The Environmental 
Protection Manager confirmed that a detailed assessment would take place, 
and it had extended to the roundabout at the bottom of London Street.  

Councillor Matthews asked what could actually be done about the air 
pollution within the Town.  The Environmental Protection Manager explained 
how the action plan would be produced and submitted to Defra, which would 
open conversations and formalise processes.  It was hoped that the action 
plan could be developed within 12 months and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission would also be involved in developing the plan.

Councillor Cowen highlighted that air pollution was a national issue and the 
Council had been looking at issues for the last five years, however Swaffham 
had become a priority.

Councillor Borrett asked if the dualling of the A11 had altered the traffic flow 
in Swaffham.  There had been no evidence of this.

Councillor Darby hoped that the action plan would consider the future 
development due to take place in the north east of the town.

The Chairman added that there needed to be a balance struck between the 
developing the town and managing the air quality.

Options
1. Declare an AQMA as recommended by Bureau Veritas in the most 

recent detailed assessment and subsequently develop and submit, in 
consultation, an air quality action plan for the AQMA area.

2. Do Nothing.

Action By

21



Cabinet
21 March 2017

4

Reasons
To meet the duty imposed on the Council by S.83 Environment Act to 
manage air quality objectives are met, through the declaration of an AQMA, 
development of an action plan and subsequent further assessment; and 
avoid possible action against the authority.

It was RESOLVED that option 1 be approved and that an Air Quality 
Management Area be declared for the geographical area described in detail 
in the draft order appended to the report.

40/17 PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDERS 

The Executive Member for Place reported to Members that the Designate 
Public Protection Order (DPPO) would be ceasing, and would become a 
Public Space Protection Orders (PSPO) with effect from October 2017.  
However, a consultation would allow for broader areas to be considered.

Councillor Crawford was pleased to see the report and that Thetford had 
been considered.  He asked if Thetford Town Council would be included in 
the consultation.  The Communities Manager confirmed that as well as using 
social media, hard copies, and the Thetford Contact Centre, the Town 
Council would also be included in the consultation.

Councillor Newton appreciated the item being bought to Cabinet and stated 
that a PSPO would give additional powers to the Police as there was only so 
much power they could use under the DPPO.  He added that this had 
become a priority for the Safer Thetford Action Group over the last two years, 
and that PSPOs had been successful within South Holland area who had 
used warning letters which would help the Police.

Councillor Webb asked if the Neighbourhood watch communities would be 
involved in the consultation, and it was confirmed that the consultation would 
engage with as many people as possible. Officers would also set up meetings 
with the Town Council, and include the Chief Inspector to help inform the 
detail of the final report.

Councillor Newton said that he had provided 216 individually signed letters 
and asked that they were considered during the consultation phase.

Councillor S Chapman-Allen said he was pleased to see the Council were 
being the leading light with this project. 

Options
1. Do nothing.  This will mean that the existing DPPOs in the market 

towns will remain in place until 20th October 2017.  At this point they 
will automatically transfer to a PSPO.  This is not a recommended 
option as the council should demonstrate good practice and consider 
all available powers including its discretionary responsibility to 
respond to anti-social behaviour using the powers under the Act.

2. Carry out the consultation process as required by statute to enable the 
council to ascertain and understand the types of complaints and 
issues that are being experienced by residents and visitors to our 
market towns and to gather evidence to support any future 
implementation of PSPOs.  Best practice from other areas that have 
implemented PSPOs suggests that the consultation period should last 

Action By

22



Cabinet
21 March 2017

5

for four weeks and allow online and written submissions.

Reasons
1. The consultation exercise will assist the Council in considering:

a) If there are specific problems caused by particular ongoing 
activities, for example street drinking, urination and defecation in 
the street;

b) What action needs to be taken by agencies to address the 
problem.

2. As Thetford is the town with the highest incidence of anti-social 
behaviour it is recommended that this be the first area for 
consultation.

It was RESOLVED that:
1) That the Council proceed with the necessary consultation on the 

introduction of Public Space Protection Orders for the five market 
towns of Breckland;

2) That the first round of consultation be in respect of Thetford town 
centre.

41/17 YAXHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

The Executive Member Growth was pleased to bring the report to Members 
for information and congratulated the community in being the first to submit a 
Neighbourhood Plan.

The Chairman asked for it to be noted that due to the tight timescale he had 
signed the report off before the Cabinet meeting, hence it being for 
information only.

Maggie Oeschle, the Chairman of the Neighbourhood Plan Group spoke to 
members and said it was excellent news that there would be a 
Neighbourhood Plan referendum for Yaxham on the 4 May 2017, and 
thanked everyone that had been involved.  She went on to say that it was a 
substantial task with major expense involved in preparing the neighbourhood 
plan and greatly appreciated the support of the Neighbourhood Planning Co-
ordinator, Susan Heinrich.  She said it was a landmark day and the 
Neighbourhood plan group were delighted and had learnt a lot including the 
sense of the community spirit.

Councillors Matthews and Webb congratulated the Neighbourhood Plan 
Group.

The contents of the report were noted.

42/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting held on 25 April 2017 in the Anglia 
Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham, were noted.

The meeting closed at 10.15 am

CHAIRMAN

Action By

23



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 16 February 2017 at 2.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mrs E J Bishop
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr M J Nairn

Mr D R R Oliver
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr A.C. Stasiak (Vice-Chairman)
Mr J Newton (Substitute Member)
Mr P S Wilkinson (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Councillor C Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou

Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr N.C. Wilkin

In Attendance
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Phil Adams - Executive Manager Public Protection
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and Performance 

Manager
Riana Rudland - Breckland Place Manager
Paola Sabatini - HR Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By
12/17 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 January 2017 were confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

13/17 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

Apologies for absence had been received by Councillors Bambridge, 
Crawford, Joel and T Monument.
Councillor Wilkinson was present substitute for Councillor Joel, and 
Councillor Newton was present as substitute for Councillor Crawford.

14/17 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

15/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

16/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Bowes, S Chapman-Allen, M Chapman-Allen, Dimoglou, 

24

Agenda Item 9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
16 February 2017

2

Sharpe and Wilkin were in attendance.

17/17 PFI CONTRACT UPDATE 

Mr Paul Young, General Manager of Parkwood Leisure presented 
Members with an update on the Private Funding Initiative (PFI) contract.  
Parkwood Leisure operate the leisure facilities at two sites within 
Breckland; Dereham Leisure Centre and Breckland Leisure Centre & 
Waterworld in Thetford.

Usage levels had increased by 3.6% with the main activity areas being 
the swimming pools, swimming lessons, fitness and use of the sports 
hall.  The partnership continued to be an excellent working relationship 
between the operator and Breckland.

A number of events had taken place at the leisure centres which had 
helped to develop community awareness of the services provided.  This 
included attending the Dereham Carnival, and being part of the 
Dereham 5k event.  

Both sites had over 1000 memberships for both swimmers and the 
expressions membership.  A 52-week swimming programme had been 
developed which had increased the direct debit intake.

A Carer membership had been introduced as well as an improved GP 
referral programme which aimed to bring benefit to the community.  In 
addition grandparents were entitled to a free swim when they attended 
with their grandchildren at Dereham Leisure Centre, which had been 
warmly welcomed by users.  Training had also been delivered to staff 
providing better awareness of dementia and Dereham Leisure Centre 
had recently become an approved centre for being dementia friendly.

The marketing plan for 2016 had been agreed and delivered on time.  
The centre was keen on develop on the benefits of e-marketing.

The Camp Adventure holiday programme held in 2016 had increased to 
519 attendees and had been the most successfully attended to date.  In 
addition links had been established with Thetford Rugby Club where 
courses linked to community groups had been successful.  A new sport, 
Pickleball, had been trialled in June with a good uptake Health and 
Safety was a priority with Parkwood Leisure and currently five members 
of staff were fully qualified to ensure policies of health and safety were 
adhered to.  Both sites had also recently passed the quality assurance 
assessments.

A gym extension had recently taken place within Dereham for the use of 
a new multifunctional area and plans were in place to develop the gym 
at the Thetford site.

The Dereham Leisure Centre would be celebrating the 10 year 
anniversary since the opening of the new complex in May 2017 and 
more details would be shared with Members in due course.

The Chairman thanked Mr Young for his detailed presentation.

Councillor Richmond asked who was responsible for the maintenance 

Action By

25



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
16 February 2017

3

of both sites and how much profit needed to be generated to make it 
work.  The Communities Manager responded that the building 
maintenance was the responsibility of the PFI Contractor, Breckland 
Leisure Limited and that Mr Young was responsible for the operation of 
the buildings only.

Councillor Jermy referred to the capacity figures and asked to what 
extent it had increased in unique visitors, or those that were frequent 
visitors.  He also asked if there was a queue for equipment of swimming 
lanes busy this could be off putting and how Parkwood managed this.  
Mr Young responded by affirming that the customer journey had already 
improved by the changes to the gym within Dereham, and this would 
also have the similar benefit in Thetford.  With regard to swimming it 
was a balancing act between maximising usage and customer 
experience.

Councillor Jermy went on to ask how Parkwood were gauging customer 
feedback as the customer feedback meetings were poorly 
communicated.  Mr Young said a new sales manager was in post and 
had already picked up the issues of corporate membership.  He also 
hoped to have focus groups with organisations that used the facilities to 
receive feedback.

The Chairman asked how Parkwood could be certain that leaflet drops 
reached rural villages.  Mr Young said it could not be guaranteed, but 
he would continue to look at E-marketing as an efficient method of 
promoting the facilities.

The Chairman went on to ask if Parkwood would consider providing 
transport from remote villages for communities to use the facilities.  Mr 
Young said it could be considered if there was a demonstrable demand 
shown for this and that it was commercially viable.  In addition 
conversations with partner groups such as Age UK were underway to 
see how Parkwood could assist with the leisure experience.

Councillor Brame was pleased to see how well Parkwood Leisure was 
performing, and asked how the promotion of concessions were 
publicised.  Mr Young said work was being undertaken to consider the 
target market area and how promotion of concessions could be 
improved.  The Communities Manager confirmed he would work with 
Parkwood Leisure to ensure that this was extensively promoted.

Councillor Wilkinson suggested that Parkwood Leisure worked with the 
Council’s Communication team to advertise information.  Mr Young 
agreed that it was a good suggestion and would work with the Council 
on that.

The Chairman asked if Parkwood produced a newsletter and if so could 
Members receive a copy to publicise the facilities within their wards.  Mr 
Young believed it was published quarterly and would ensure Members 
received a copy.

Councillor Matthews asked how carers would be aware that they were 
entitled to discounted membership.  The Communities Manager 
confirmed there was a set of criteria and would clarify this with 
Members. 

SJ

Action By

26



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
16 February 2017

4

Councillor Stasiak asked how Parkwood liaised with villages or Towns 
within the district that did not have access to the gym or swimming 
pools.  Mr Young said he had a detailed map which showed where 
Members of the leisure centres were coming from and the distances 
people were travelling.

Councillor Bishop asked if the leisure centres were involved in the ‘swim 
the channel’ campaign which raised money for local charities. Mr Young 
would look into this initiative further.

The Chairman asked to review the promotional campaign in three 
months and the Communities Manager would respond to this.

SJ

18/17 UNSIGHTLY AND DERELICT SITES 

The Executive Director Place presented the report asking Members 
whether they would consider and recommend to Cabinet instigating a 
programme of work to identify and take sites that were deemed to be 
significantly and adversely impacting upon the character and 
appearance of their immediate and wider environment of which they 
were located.

Councillor Brame felt that there was currently a problem around the 
District and there was no mechanism to inform the Council of these 
issues; having a list would make a difference.

The Executive Director Place said it would be a co-ordinated approach 
whereby sites and issues would be identified with a proposed course of 
action which would be agreed by Members.

Councillor Wilkinson fully supported the report and asked if the Council 
could use compulsory purchase orders.  The Executive Director of 
Place said it would depend on each individual case.

Councillor Oliver was surprised that the Council were not doing this at 
the moment and asked if this would be co-ordinated with the empty 
homes piece of work.  The Executive Director Place said that as part of 
the recent service review there would be the re-establishment of a 
reinforcement team, who would pick up the empty homes piece of work 
and the derelict sites piece as both strands would run alongside one 
another.

Councillor Newton asked if a lesson had been learnt by not having a 
conservation policy.  The Executive Director Place confirmed that 
legislation was available to use and therefore was not a need for a 
conservation policy. 

Councillor Jermy said there would be situations where hands were tied 
but that prioritisation was the key.  In addition it did not have to be 
overly costly and that the influence the council had was key.  The 
Chairman agreed and said that there were many different ways to 
approach this.

Councillor Jermy went on to ask if Officers had the appropriate legal 

Action By

27



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
16 February 2017

5

expertise to lead on this.  It was confirmed there was active recruitment 
to the enforcement team as previously described.  In addition the 
Executive Manager Governance had the legal knowledge and had also 
implemented a similar project at South Holland District Council.

The Chairman supported the need of a list of sites to be drawn up 
showing a planned approach of the action that could be taken.  All sites 
would be handled in a sensitive way on a case by case basis and 
prioritised accordingly. In addition the reason behind the report was to 
improve the District.

Members AGREED to recommend a report to Cabinet that a 
programme of work be undertaken to address unsightly and derelict 
sites and land in the district.

19/17 Q3 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The Deputy Leader Executive Member Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report.

The Chairman asked if the two indicators where information was 
unavailable were the same two indicators as the previous report; 
therefore not reported for a period of 6 months.  The Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager confirmed this was the case, 
as there had been some technical difficulties which had caused the data 
to not be reported.

The Executive Director Place informed Members that with regard to the 
Serco information, focus had been on the book and pay system, and 
appreciated that it was unacceptable and would therefore provide the 
information to Members by 24 February.

Councillor Oliver said that as it was a contractual requirement to provide 
the information had there been a register of an infraction to the contract.  
The Executive Director Place confirmed that it was a Breckland issue 
and not Serco.

The Chairman went onto ask if Members were content with the style of 
the report, and if there was any confusion.  Some Members confirmed 
that there were some areas that were not easy to understand.

The Chairman asked the Corporate Improvement and Performance 
Manager to provide a report that outlined issues that Scrutiny should be 
considering.  It was agreed that the Chairman and Corporate 
Improvement and Performance Manager would consider the format 
prior to the next report being submitted to Overview and Scrutiny.

Members noted the report.

GP

20/17 HR POLICY HANDBOOK 

The Deputy Leader Executive Member Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report which had been viewed by Full 
Council on 19 January, but requested that Overview and Scrutiny 
consider the document.

Action By

28



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
16 February 2017

6

The aim of the newly drafted HR Policy Handbook was to mitigate risk 
by having a single set of policies to make it clear for employees who 
would use this on a daily basis.  There were two main changes in the 
recommendations.  The first was to allow any changes in employment 
law to be delegated to the Head of Paid Service with a briefing paper 
submitted to Full Council where legislative changes had occurred.  The 
second was with regard to implementing Maternity Support Leave of up 
to 5 days at the discretion of the line manager.

Councillor Oliver asked what financial impact that would have on the 
Council.  The Executive Director Strategy & Governance advised that 
the impact would be extremely minimal.

It was AGREED that Members recommended the report to Full Council. 

21/17 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 

Councillor Stasiak informed Members the group had considered 
opportunities for the future.

The Chairman was pleased with the comprehensive list, and had noted 
that some of the examples provided had been included in the Budget 
and Council Tax setting report scheduled for Full Council.

The Chief Accountant added that support had been provided and some 
progress had already been made in some projects.  Some opportunities 
were longer term projects which would be taken to the growth project.

The Chairman asked that this item return to the next Overview and 
Scrutiny meeting outlining in detail what opportunities had been done, 
were being considered or on a future work programme.

AC/TS

22/17 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Wilkinson informed Members he had attended a youth 
conference where it was confirmed the Youth Advisory Board would 
continue to be funded for the next five years.
He went on to inform Members that the Norfolk Health Overview & 
Scrutiny commission had been informed that pharmacies had been 
asked to support GP surgeries, but government had reduced the 
funding for pharmacies.  Norfolk County Council would be writing to the 
government to look into the possibility of area budgeting rather than 
national budgeting.

23/17 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

24/17 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

25/17 WORK PROGRAMME 

The Chairman asked to scrutinise how the council worked between 
service areas and proposed the staff were interviewed across 

Action By

29



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
16 February 2017

7

interdepartmental areas.

It was asked that the review of the Council Investment Strategy and 
what was being considered to improve and diversify the cash reserves, 
be considered as soon as possible.  The Scrutiny Officer would 
schedule this into the work programme.

Councillor Brame said he had attended a meeting where Norfolk County 
Council Education provided a presentation informing the public of how 
school places were allocated.  He felt this would be a very useful 
presentation which Members would benefit from.  The Scrutiny Officer 
would schedule this into the Work Programme.

TS

TS

26/17 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 30 March 2017 at 2.00pm 
were noted.

Members were also advised that a special meeting would be arranged 
for Thursday 6 April at 2pm to discuss the Local Plan.

27/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 
1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 4 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.

28/17 NEW BRECKLAND PAY SCHEME: PERFORMANCE RELATED 
INCREMENTS (PRI) SCHEME 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report.  

The HR Manager gave Members a detailed presentation explaining the 
proposed performance related increment scheme which had been 
devised as a request from the then Cabinet with the constraint that it be 
delivered within budget.  Consultation with Unison, the staff forum and 
the staff had also been sought.

It was AGREED to recommend the report to full Council, and requested 
that this was returned in one year to Overview & Scrutiny to see how it 
had embedded in.

The meeting closed at 4.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Action By

30



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 6 March 2017 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J. Newton
Mr P. S .Wilkinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mrs J. Hollis (Substitute 
Member)
Mr P. Cox
Mr T. R. Carter
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou

Mr P.J. Hewett
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs L.S. Turner
Mrs A. M. Webb

In Attendance
Peter Cox Legal Advisor NpLaw
Mike Brennan Head of Development Management
Simon Wood Interim Business Manager*
Matthew  Ellis Principal Planning Officer*
Chris Hobson Principal Planning Officer*
Tom Donnelly Technical Administration Officer*
Cathey Rix Technical Support Officer*
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 * Capita for Breckland Council

Action By
23/17MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2017 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman subject to a correction to the resolution at 
Minute No. 18/17(j) to read…in accordance to Policy DC03.

24/17APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

An apology for absence was received from the Vice-Chairman, Councillor 
Sharpe; Councillor William Richmond was in attendance as his substitute.  An 
apology for absence was also received from Councillor Martin; Councillor Darby 
was in attendance as his substitute.

25/17DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None declared.

26/17CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

A temporary Vice-Chairman had to be nominated in the absence of Councillor 

31

Agenda Item 10



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

Sharpe who was still unwell. It was proposed and seconded that Councillor 
Marion Chapman-Allen be appointed as Vice-Chairman for this meeting. 

The running order of the meeting was announced and it was noted that the 
application for Dereham (Agenda item 7(a)) would be considered at 2pm.

Councillor Clarke had raised an item with the Chairman prior to the meeting in 
relation to whether Breckland Council held any Planning Committee meetings 
elsewhere in the District and if evening meetings had been considered.  
Members were informed that meetings had occasionally been held elsewhere 
dependent on the subject matter (the Thetford Sustainable Urban Extension 
(SUE) was given as an example).  Alternative venues had been suggested, such 
as the Memorial Hall in Dereham and it was pointed out that the Council’s 
Conference Suite, particularly the Anglia Room, had been designed and set up 
purposely for meetings with all the necessary facilities and equipment.  In relation 
to evening meetings, Members were informed that trying to ‘slot in’ later meetings 
would not be suitable for Members and Officers of the Council due to their very 
busy schedule.     

Councillor Clarke thanked the Chairman for his response.

27/17REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Agenda item 7(b) (Dereham) had been deferred from the Agenda due the 
submission of a holding objection from the Highways Authority.  

28/17URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

29/17DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Attention was drawn to the schedule of deferred applications particularly in 
relation to 3PL/2015/1045/O, land west of Etling View, Dereham.  Members were 
informed that the site visit had been postponed and another would be arranged in 
due course.  Further information on drainage issues had been received from 
Anglian Water and it was likely that the application would be brought back to 
Committee following the site visit.

(a) Proposed Residential Development for up to 216 dwellings, landscaping, open 
space, parking & access, Land off Swanton Road, Dereham  

The following representatives were in attendance to speak on the application:

 Councillor Alison Webb, Ward Representative 
 Tony Needham and Sarah Simpson, Dereham Town Council 
 Roger Atterwill, Swanton Morley Parish Council
 Philip Morton and Hilary Bushell, objectors
 Geoff Armstrong, Applicant’s Agent

Dereham Members had received correspondence on this application.

Matt Ellis, Principal Planning Officer presented the application, the 
recommendation was one of approval.  Correspondence had been received from 
the National Planning Casework Unit (NPCU) which had been set up to manage 

Action By

32



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

planning decisions on behalf of the Secretary of State for The Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG).

An indicative plan was shown.  The application site would be split into two parts, 
opposite one another and the proposed housing would utilise a new roundabout 
providing access to both sides of the site from Swanton Road.  If approved, the 
suggested conditions had been listed on page 27 of the report.

Councillor Webb, spoke against the application.  She pointed out that the Council 
had achieved a 5 year land supply but had not exhausted brownfield sites. If 
Members were mindful to approve the application, the traffic along Kings Road 
would be exacerbated and urged the Committee to wait until the Dereham 
Transport Study had been confirmed.  The Headmaster of Neatherd High School 
had written to the Leader expressing his concerns in relation to sewage which 
were causing serious problems to some of his pupils having to walk past or 
through raw sewage as the current infrastructure could not cope with all the 
development in the town.

Tony Needham, also objected to the application and had concerns about the 
impact this development would have on the Neatherd Moor and the inadequate 
road network.  He pointed out that the Town Council was not opposed to 
development but wanted development to happen in the right place.  This 
application was outside the Settlement Boundary and had received a huge level 
of objections and should not be supported.  Sarah Simpson drew attention to the 
significant concerns that she had with the transport assessment and to the fact 
that the modelling carried out was incorrect and she urged Members to refuse the 
application.

The objectors, one of which was a resident of Kings Road both expressed their 
concerns in relation to the negative impact that this development would have on 
the wildlife and the Neatherd Moor and the problems with wide vehicles and 
emergency vehicles having to mount the footpaths due to the lack of space along 
Kings Road.  These were problems that were happening now without the addition 
of this application.  Mr. Wood quoted a section from the National Planning Policy 
Framework in relation to sustainable development and pointed out that there 
were a number of proposed sites in Dereham that would be better suited.

Roger Atterwill drew attention to paragraph 6.3 of the Officers report which 
suggested that Anglian Water had a strategy in place for future development by 
2019 which was, in his opinion, unrealistic given the cumulative effect and felt 
that Anglian Water should provide a credible plan with a completion date in place.  
He also agreed with the aforementioned comments that the Transport Study was 
seriously flawed as the proposed development would have an impact on 
Swanton Morley and had not taken account of the affect that this would have on 
Kings Road, Theatre Street and the surrounding road networks.  He urged the 
Committee to defer this application until the Transport Study had been completed 
and when Anglian Water had provided more detailed proposals.  He also 
suggested that the Secretary of State should consider this application too. 

The Applicant’s Agent reminded the Committee that this land had been 
considered as a potential housing site for many years and had been included as 
a preferred site in the draft Local Plan and was sustainable due to the proximity 
to the Town Centre.  He pointed out that the applicant had worked with Mid 
Norfolk Railway where many issues had been resolved and many highway 
improvement works had been considered. Further to the above, the proposal 
would be subject to S106 contributions and Anglian Water had confirmed that an 
upgrade would be dealt with by 2019.

Action By

33



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

Councillor Clarke put forward a number of questions and observations to Officers 
and Members including:

 the application site was outside the Settlement Boundary
 there had been no mention of Northgate High School
 there was no further detail in relation to the NHS mitigations
 the deficiencies in relation to the Transport Study; and
 should the Environment Agency be the lead Flood Authority?

The Principal Planning Officer advised that he would come back to Members with 
information in relation to the school and there had been no further detail provided 
with regard to the NHS proposals.  As far as the deficiencies in relation to the 
Transport Study were concerned, he explained that the development could only 
mitigate its own impact; the applicant could not be asked or be expected to 
mitigate other areas in the town and he was not aware of any feedback from the 
Flood Authority.  In response to a request in relation to the Transport Study, 
Sarah Simpson commented on the quality of the evidence submitted highlighting 
the fact that there was a fundamental flaw embedded in the traffic assessment.

Photographs were shown of the damage to the kerb stones and many properties 
due to the amount of traffic in Kings Road.

Councillor William Richmond, as a local Ward Representative endorsed the 
comments made by Councillor Webb.  He was aware that the Transport Study 
included Tavern Lane and the Yaxham Road junction but asked if it included 
Kings Road, Neatherd Road and Theatre Street.  He also felt that further details 
of the roundabout and what effect this would have on pedestrians was required 
before any decision could be made.  The Applicant’s Agent explained that all 
junctions had been considered and the same works were being offered as 
before, all was safe in Highway terms and therefore the Traffic Assessment, in 
his opinion, was acceptable.  Councillor Richmond felt that until the 
Neighbourhood Plan for Dereham and the Local Plan was finalised approval 
should not be given to this application.

Councillor Chapman-Allen asked who was responsible for the Transport Study.  
The Head of Development Management advised that Breckland Council had 
undertaken this Transport Study due to all the concerns raised.  Dereham Town 
Council had not agreed with these findings and mitigation measures had been 
put forward including works to the Tavern Lane junction that would allow for more 
capacity.  He pointed out that Breckland Council and Norfolk County Council had 
found this scheme perfectly adequate in Highway terms.

Councillor Duigan highlighted the fact that the Transport Study had not 
considered the north of the Town; there was already a problem in Kings Road 
which would be intensified by further development.  He felt that this application 
was premature and suggested that all sites in Dereham should be looked at 
together.

Councillor Wilkinson asked why the Town Council had not instigated a Transport 
Study themselves.  Mr Needham explained that it was because Breckland 
Council commissioned the Study in the first instance; unfortunately, due to lack of 
evidence and the fundamental flaws found, Dereham Town Council had now 
commissioned its own Study.  

The Head of Development Management pointed out that a Highways Officer was 

Action By

34



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

supposed to be attending this meeting but due to other work commitments had 
sent their apologies and suggested deferring the application.

Councillor Brame, although not a Dereham Member, agreed with the 
aforementioned suggestion. 

Councillor Joel felt it should also be deferred to enable further information from 
Anglian Water.  

Members were informed that the Committee could not demand an answer from 
Anglian Water but a condition could be suggested that no development should 
take place until a suitable sewage connection was installed.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be deferred on transport 
grounds.

Deferred, contrary to the recommendation.

One Member abstained from voting on this matter.

(b) Proposed Residential Development for a minimum of 291 dwellings, Link Roads, 
Open Space and Recreational Space - Land off Shipdham Road, Westfield 
Road and Westfield Lane  

See Minute No. 27/17 above.

(c Warrens Lane, Attleborough - Change of use from agricultural to burial site and 
outline for 8 dwellings  

Chris Hobson, Principal Planning Officer presented the hybrid application for a 
burial site and outline for 8 dwellings.  The application was contrary to Policies 
SS1 CP1, CP11 and DC02 and was therefore recommended for refusal.  

Jason Parker, the Applicant’s Agent pointed out that this proposal was for a much 
needed burial site and there were no other suitable sites available.  The housing 
element would allow the infrastructure for the proposed visibility splays and the 
off-site highway improvements; including the provision of a footway.  The scheme 
had been reduced from 16 dwellings to 8 and had originally been recommended 
for approval but now was being recommended for refusal solely due to the 
Council’s five year land supply.

Sarah Simpson, a Highways consultant for Create Consulting, was in attendance 
to answer questions and advised that the Highways objections had been ratified 
and the proposed improvements to widen and resurface Warrens Lane and 
provide a new footpath would be significantly better than the current 
arrangements.

Mr Wood, an objector to the application and a resident within Warrens Lane 
hoped that Members would support the recommendation of refusal on the 
grounds of highway safety.  He felt that if Members were mindful to approve the 
application the access should be moved to north-east side of the site.

The Chairman of Attleborough Town Council, Mr Jeremy Burton, pointed out that 
the Town Council had passed and approved this application on a number of 
occasions and nothing had changed since the previous application that had been 
recommended for approval at the Planning Committee meeting on 6 February 
2017.  Cemetery provision was urgently required in Attleborough and following an 

Action By

35



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

extensive search no suitable sites were available.  The site in question was over 
5.5 acres and 5 of which would be used purely for burial ground that would last 
for many years.

The Chairman of the Planning Committee had received emails from Councillor 
Ashby and Councillor Oliver raising concerns from residents in relation to 
highway issues.

In response to a question as to whether any site investigations had been carried 
out, Members were informed that the site had been classed as suitable for burial 
land.  Given the amount of dwellings proposed, Councillor Chapman-Allen asked 
if there would be enough money from the development to carry out the highway 
improvements.  Mr Parker advised that the improvements had been costed and 
were viable.  Mr Regetti, the Applicant pointed out that the road widening would 
be funded by the burial land being purchased by the Town Council.  The Legal 
Advisor suggested that the best way forward would be for the applicant to enter 
into a S106 Agreement to secure the provision of the burial site and the majority 
of dwellings.  Councillor Joel asked if the road would be built before the houses.  
In response, the Legal Advisor advised that this would be a matter of negotiation 
to be safeguarded in the Section 106 Agreement and clarified that the road 
improvements and the burial ground should precede the occupation of the 
dwellings.

Approved, contrary to the recommendation, on the following grounds:

1. the previous application had been recommended for 
approval;

2. the provision of the burial site outweighed the provision of 
the housing; 

3. the development would not have an impact on the historic 
environment; and

4. subject to a S106 Agreement which would ensure that the 
road improvements and the burial ground were provided 
before the occupation of any dwellings.

30/17SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

a. Item 1 – Kenninghall: Green Farm, Edge Green: Silo and mixer extension 
to West of Mill: Applicant: CCL Holdings Ltd: Reference 3PL/2016/0319/F 
(retrospective)

Members were informed that further information had been submitted by 
Jay Meheta, the Applicant’s Agent in support of the application. 

Simon Wood, the Interim Business Manager Capita, advised that 
retrospective permission was sought for the three applications listed.  
Each application would be voted on separately but would be looked at as 
a whole.  The key issues were highlighted.  

The Applicant’s Agent was in attendance.  He explained that since 2012 
the applicant had worked tirelessly to regularise the development and its 
uses at the site and had cooperated fully with the Council in terms of 
submitting applications at considerable cost and expense.  It was noted 
that the applicant had also voluntarily submitted an Environmental 
Statement even though it had not been considered necessary.  Traffic 
movements would not increase and he urged the Committee to approve 
these applications.

Action By

36



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

Councillor Chapman-Allen, the Ward Member, had received an email 
from Kenninghall Parish Council who had welcomed the news to 
regularise the unregulated activities.  However, activity had intensified 
and the size of the HGV vehicles had increased and the rising frequency 
of their movements had deteriorated Heath Road and the drainage was in 
a very poor state.  

It was noted that a number of conditions that had been suggested by the 
Parish Council were being complied with.

Approved, as recommended.

b. Item 2 – Kenninghall: Green Farm, Edge Green: Construction, retention & 
continued use of shelter, weighbridge, loading bays, bins, 
electricity/switchgear steel shed & workshop extension: Applicant: CCL 
Holdings Ltd: Reference: 3PL/2016/0320/F (retrospective)

Approved, as recommended.

c. Item 3 – Kenninghall: Green Farm, Edge Green: Underground storage 
tanks: Reference: 3PL/2016/0321/F (retrospective)

Approved, as recommended.

Councillor Chapman-Allen thanked the new owners for working with the 
Parish Council.

d. Item 4 – Shipdham: D D Dodd & Sons, Chapel Street: Demolition of old 
Public House, central garage and retail units, erection of convenience 
store, retail units and flats: Applicant: Mr Peter Dodd: Reference: 
3Pl/2016/0655/F

Matthew Ellis, Principal Planning Officer presented the application. 
 
The Ward Representatives, Councillor Turner and Councillor Hewett were 
in attendance to speak on the application.  Mr Hinchliffe, and objector, Mr 
Fawcett, Chairman of Shipdham Parish Council and Erica Whettingsteel, 
the Applicant’s Agent were also in attendance.

An indicative site plan, location plans together with photographs were 
shown and it was noted that planning consent for an access to be 
constructed in the position proposed had already been granted under 
application reference 3PL/2014/1005.

Many objections had been received to the proposals on the basis that it 
included a convenience store which would compete with the existing 
shops and post office within the village. 

Mr Hinchliffe raised concerns in relation to the entrance and egress from 
the proposed development site taking into account the potential for further 
development behind the site as well as the old school field opposite that 
Breckland Council owned that could also be developed and felt that the 
addition of a convenience store in this location would only exacerbate the 
situation.  He urged the Committee not to support the addition of a 
convenience store as part of this development as it would take business 
away from the existing post office in the village which was mutually 

Action By

37



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

supported.

The Chairman of Shipdham Parish Council urged the Committee to 
support localism and reject the application.  He was not against the 
principal of development but felt that this application would have a 
negative impact on the village particularly taking account of the additional 
traffic on the A1075 which was the major route through Shipdham. He 
was also disappointed with the demolition of the former Public House 
which he felt should be retained and implored Members to refuse the 
application.

The Applicant’s Agent pointed out that the application fully accorded with 
the Development Plan and she explained that the reason for the former 
application not coming forward had been due to the unsightly frontage of 
the site.  She advised that if this current application was rejected it would 
have significant consequences to the village as the current business 
owners would look to relocate elsewhere due to the uncertainty.  She 
assured Members that the proposed convenience store would not be very 
big in comparison to others in the village and the well-designed scheme 
would sit comfortable in a residential setting and she urged Members to 
approve the application.

Councillor Turner reminded Members that the village of Shipdham had 
been designated as a Local Service Centre and it welcomed development 
albeit in the right way. There had been over 1,000 people, through 
petitions, that had expressed the view that a convenience store in this 
location was not required.  She highlighted the fact that the 2015 Village 
Appraisal accorded with this information and she read aloud a quote from 
the final report that any new business would be welcomed but not any 
that would compete with existing operations.  

Mr Hewett advised that there was one aspect of this development that 
was causing the challenge and this was the impact of the convenience 
store on the other stores in the village.  He quoted a statement from the 
Local Plan that new business must not harm existing local facilities and 
he urged the Committee to listen to what was being said.

Councillor Clarke drew attention to the comments made by Norfolk 
County Council Highways in relation to waiting restrictions that could not 
be enforced and asked if these could be imposed by way of a condition.  
Members were informed that it could not as this was not a planning 
matter.

In response to a question about the nature of the current post office, 
Councillor Turner explained that the post office in the village was very 
busy and was a lifeline to many residents as it was classed as a 
community hub and provided a service to other villages.   Given the 
response, Councillor Clarke asked if there would be any provision to have 
post office facilities in the proposed application. The Applicant’s Agent 
advised that the occupation had not been confirmed.

The Head of Development Management pointed out that this application 
was not about closing the existing post office it was about providing 
another convenience store and the type of business that occupied that 
retail space was not a planning matter.

Councillor Marion Chapman-Allen asked Officers if they had any legal 

Action By

38



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

suggestions to afford the Committee with the opportunity to object to a 
convenience store.  Councillor Hewett again quoted the section contained 
in the Local Plan.  The Head of Development Management advised that 
the Local Plan did seek to protect local services; for example Public 
Houses - but it could only take that view if that was the only one in the 
village – the matter of competition could not be taken into account. 

Councillor Wilkinson was undecided with this application as he was a 
great supporter of localism.  Councillor Bowes asked felt that a new store 
could attract new customers and increase business in the village.

Councillor Nairn asked if an expression of interest had been made against 
this retail space.  Members were informed that the Co-op had carried out 
its own market research.  The Chairman reminded the Committee that 
this was not a planning issue.

The recommendation was one of approval and following a vote, the 
application was:

Approved, subject to conditions as listed in the report.

e. Item 5 – Attleborough: 7 Edenside Drive: Use of land as residential care 
home for persons with learning disabilities: Applicant: E W Becker & Son 
Properties Ltd: Reference: 3PL/2016/1106/F

Chris Hobson, Principal Planning Officer presented the application.  Site 
plans and photographs were shown of the existing recently constructed 
building to the rear of the residential care home which had been granted 
planning permission for six single storey houses for persons with learning 
disabilities but as yet had not been occupied.  The existing bungalow 
would provide and office and two residential units.  The conditions had 
been set out on page 110 of the report which would include, if approved, 
an acoustic fence between the application site and the neighbouring 
property.

Forty-seven letters of support had been received.

Councillor Stasiak, the Ward Representative was in attendance and 
pointed out that most people he had contacted were in support of the 
application it was the residents who lived closest to the site that were the 
main objectors who had concerns in relation to noise and parking 
provision.  He felt that the days of packing these individuals off to the 
countryside had gone and felt that this proposal would be of a great 
benefit to the town and he fully supported the application.

Councillor Joel agreed that there was a need for such places in the town 
but had concerns about the access, the amount of parking spaces and 
deliveries.  The Principal Planning Officer advised that the access was 
just for pedestrians and the vehicles would be located to the front of the 
existing bungalow and was sufficient.  The Chairman asked if the 
pedestrian access was wide enough for a vehicle to pass.  Members were 
informed that it was but this would be conditioned for pedestrians only.  
The Chairman reminded the Committee that visitors and/or staff could 
park in the car park opposite. In response to a concern about the lack of 
parking restrictions in the town, Councillor Stasiak advised that a study 
was now being carried out on the use of the Queen’s Square car park and 
he hoped that this would be rolled out to the rest of the town.

Action By

39



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

Approved, as recommended.

Item 6 – Attleborough: Stone Cottage, 68 Leys Lane: Erect two storey, 
three bedroomed dwelling: Applicant: Mr & Mrs Miller: Reference: 
3PL/2016/1205/F

Councillor Stasiak, the Ward Representative and John Barbuk, the 
Applicant’s Agent, was in attendance to speak on the application.

Chris Hobson, Principal Planning Officer presented the application that 
was recommended for refusal.  The application site was currently garden 
land that served Stone Cottage outside the Settlement Boundary, with 
industrial buildings situated within the Maurice Gaymer Industrial Estate.

An objection had been received from Environmental Health and subject to 
conditions the Highway issues could be addressed.

Mr Barbuk felt that the reasons for refusal were unsubstantiated as the 
only objection received was in relation to possible noise concerns.  He 
mentioned the existing dwellings nearby and asked if the impact from the 
industrial units had been considered when they were approved.  Sound 
proofing requirements were much better than when the aforementioned 
existing dwellings were first built and drew attention to the fact that No. 5 
Leys Lane was in a far worse position that this proposal.  Mr Barbuk 
pointed out that the Town Council and the Ward Member was in support 
of the application.

Councillor Stasiak stated that the main point of refusal was the noise and 
reminded Members that it was Breckland Council that approved the 
planning permission for the factory.  He felt that this part of the town was 
slowly becoming more residential and already incorporated a number of 
pleasing dwellings and this proposal would help enhance the whole area.

In response to a question, the nature of the business was highlighted as a 
B2 use.

Discussions had been had with Environmental health and it was pointed 
out that this dwelling, if approved, would be facing directly onto a door of 
the factory unit and the issue for Members to consider was the amenity of 
the occupants.

Refused, as recommended.

f. Item 7 – Yaxham: Land north of Norwich Road: erection of 25 dwellings 
with new access point and associated landscaping, open space and car 
parking: Applicant: Glavenhill Strategic Land (Number 9) Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2016/1499/O

Simon Wood, the Interim Business Manager, Capita presented the 
application.  An indicative site plan had been submitted but did not form 
part of the application.  It was noted that the Highways objections in 
relation to the access had been withdrawn and were no longer relevant.  
Members were informed that Yaxham Local Service Centre status could 
not be taken into account as the draft Local Plan could not as yet be given 
any weight and the current Local Development Framework should be 
adhered.   It was further noted that the impact on amenity would be 

Action By

40



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

considered at the Reserved Matters stage.

The Ward Representatives, Councillor Dimoglou and Councillor Paul 
Claussen were in attendance to speak on the application.  Peter Lowings, 
the Chairman of Yaxham Parish Council, Ian Martin and objector and 
Philip Atkinson the Applicant’s Agent were in attendance.  Jane Crichton, 
also an Agent was present to answer any questions.

Mr Lowings was in attendance to highlight the views of the Parish Council 
and the community of which there were three hamlets.  He advised that 
the village did support small scale organic growth but 25 dwellings was a 
major development; notwithstanding the wider 24 hectares that could also 
be built on of which Breckland Council had indicated could accommodate 
over 300 homes.  The Parish Council had voted unanimously against this 
application.

Mr Martin, representing the NP4Yaxham Working Group, was aware that 
the Local Plan, as yet, did not carry any weight but the consultation 
evidence did value Yaxham as a small rural village.  360 households 
had responded to the Neighbourhood Plan all of whom valued the rural 
landscape between Yaxham and Clint Green.  He pointed out that the 
application site was outside the Settlement Boundary and with this in 
mind he quoted Section 17 from the NPPF under the Core Planning 
Principles which stated that promoting the vitality of our main urban areas, 
protecting the Green Belts around them, recognising the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside and supporting thriving 
rural communities within it.  This application would damage the open 
countryside and the village did not want a large urban extension within it.

The Applicant’s Agent pointed out that the application would be for 15 
open market homes and 10 affordable homes and reminded the 
Committee that the Local Plan Working Group had decided to deselect 
Yaxham as a Local Service Centre but as yet this decision had not been 
approved but if it was ratified by Cabinet this application would be deleted.  
She pointed out that this smaller housing application, under the 
accessibility test, was within reasonable walking distance from amenities.  

Councillor Dimoglou drew Members’ attention to the fact that Officers 
considered this to be a sustainable site and highlighted paragraphs 1.7 
and 1.8 of the application and therefore the reasons for refusal would be 
considerably weak.  The village of Yaxham was vibrant and affordable 
housing was greatly needed and felt that the application should be 
supported.

Councillor Claussen found himself in a unique position as he was in 
support of the Parish Council and supported the Officers 
recommendation. Breckland Council now had its five year land supply; 
therefore, this application should be refused.  Yaxham Parish Council 
wanted expansion but not outside the Settlement Boundary and he urged 
the Committee to support the Officers recommendation.

In response to a number of points made, the Interim Business Manager 
advised that the application should be considered on the basis of the 
current Local Development Plan and not on the draft Local Plan and the 
status of this settlement, set out at paragraph 1.6 of the report, should be 
considered.  The distance was immaterial and sustainability was about 
the protection of green-field sites and on this basis he asked Members to 

Action By

41



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

support the Officers recommendation.

The Legal Advisor mentioned the Council’s five year land supply and drew 
attention to paragraph 10.1 of the report.  He also mentioned the delivery 
of the affordable housing which, if approved, could be safeguarded by a 
S106 Agreement and would be brought to Committee if not adhered to.

Councillor Clarke asked who the Flood & Water Management Team 
represented and also asked about current thresholds.   Members were 
informed that new applications would be dealt with by the lead flood 
authority which was Norfolk County Council; the threshold of 250 
dwellings was being looked at and would be lowered in due course.

In response to a question about Community Infrastructure Levy’s (CILs), 
the Interim Business Manager advised that CIL could form part of the 
Heads of Terms which he had not been aware had been submitted.

Councillor Chapman-Allen pointed out that there would be a number of 
children from this development and without any transport she asked how 
these children would get to school.  She felt that the development would 
harm the character of the area and in her opinion would be a visual blot 
on the landscape.  She also had concerns about the cumulative effect on 
the village. Mr Martin advised that the school was already over capacity 
and the development, if approved, would be over a kilometre away.  In 
response to the first question, the Applicant’s Agent advised that that 
actual distance to the school from the development was 1020 metres.

The application was:

Refused, as recommended.

Item 8 – Whissonsett: Land adjacent Ceduna, New Road: Erection of 
detached single storey dwelling and garage: Applicant: Mr & Mrs M Dye: 
Reference: 3PL/2016/1520/F

Chris Hobson, Principal Planning Officer presented the application which 
had been recommended for refusal for the reasons as set out on page 
163 of the supplementary report.

The Ward Representative, Councillor Trevor Carter was in attendance to 
speak on the application.  

Sally Dye, the applicant was also in attendance and explained that the 
proposed three bedroom bungalow would be adjacent to the Settlement 
Boundary the same as the four existing bungalows to the south of the 
site.  She felt that this would be a logical addition to the village and would 
not have a significant impact on neighbouring properties.  Mrs Dye had 
lived in the village all her life as had her family and the Parish Council was 
in support of the application.

Councillor Carter fully concurred with the applicant and reminded 
Members of two other applications that had been agreed which also 
abutted the Settlement Boundary.  His Ward also lacked amenities as 
many did but most people had to travel from their homes to get to work.  
He also reminded the Committee that most people who had grown up in 
the village wanted to remain but had to move away due to the few 
properties that became available being snapped up as holiday homes.  

Action By

42



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

The Head of Development Management pointed out that the two 
applications that had been referred to had been approved prior to the 
Council having its five year land supply and if Members approved this 
application it would be on personal circumstances that could not be given 
any weight.  Councillor Joel felt that an application that abutted the 
settlement boundary should be given some consideration.  Members were 
reminded that these could be considered but only when and if the Local 
Plan was adopted.  Councillor Brame could not see why the five year land 
supply should apply as this application supported the local community.  
Councillor Duigan felt that this proposal was quite well related to the 
Settlement Boundary and could be regarded as a ‘fill in’.

The Legal Advisor reminded Members that they must have good reasons 
for going against the Officers recommendation of refusal and drew 
attention to paragraph 5.3 of the application.

Approved, contrary to the recommendation on the grounds that the 
application would not have an adverse effect on Policy CP11 and 
would accord with the requirements of Policies DC01 and CP14.

g. Item 9 – Scarning: Annex to Grange Cottage, Dereham Road: Conversion 
of extension of existing garage to form annex accommodation: Applicant: 
Mr Adam Riley: Reference: 3PL/2017/0026/HOU

Matthew Ellis, Principal Planning Officer presented the application which 
had been brought to Committee due to the history of the site and the 
community involvement.

The Ward Representatives, Councillor Turner & Councillor Hewett were in 
attendance to speak on the application.  Deborah McSkimming, an 
objector and Dennis Black, a supporter were also present to speak on the 
matter. 

Mrs McSkimming was in attendance to represent the views of the 
neighbours and reminded the Committee of the previous applications, 
most of which had either refused or withdrawn.  This application, in her 
opinion, was no different.  She pointed out that the applicant did not live 
on the site and the two existing dwellings were rented and were occupied 
by tenants.  Five conditions that had been put to the applicant by the 
architect to which the applicant had agreed were highlighted.  The Parish 
Council had raised no objections subject to these conditions being put in 
place.  

Mr Black advised that no objections had been received by the Parish 
Council and both the Ward Representatives were in support of the 
application.  He recognised the neighbours’ frustrations that their 
conditions could not be considered but urged the Committee to approve 
the application and leave the Officers to sort out the conditions.

Councillor Turner pointed out that many meetings had been had between 
the applicant and the community which she felt was a clear example of 
the community working together and if approved she asked that the 
conditions be applied.

Councillor Hewett felt that this was a critical application in terms of 
localism and pointed out that the whole basis of the planning process was 
to protect the community. However, if approved, the Officers report being 

Action By

43



Planning Committee
6 March 2017

considered, in his opinion, would result in the protection of all local 
neighbours being lost and suggested that the application be deferred to 
enable terms and conditions to be agreed subject to a S106 Agreement.

Members’ attention was drawn to the said conditions on page 135 of the 
agenda pack.  The Principal Planning officer explained that condition (A) 
could not be imposed as it would fail the test against the National 
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG).  Condition (B) would require additional 
planning consent if the access arrangements were to be changed.  
Condition (C), Members were asked to take note of the suggested 
conditions on page 139 of the agenda pack.  It was not considered 
reasonable to apply a condition to the suggested condition (D) as it would 
mean a change to the plans and as far as condition (E) was concerned 
this condition, if Members were mindful to approve the application already 
applied.

Peter Cox, the Legal Advisor for Breckland Council, advised that this 
application had to be determined in accordance with Planning Policy and 
on its own merits; a private arrangement could not be enshrined.  He 
pointed out that three out of the five suggestion conditions were not 
relevant; however, if approved, Members needed to ensure that the 
application had been granted as an annex so that it remained as an 
annex.

The recommendation was one of approval, and it was

Approved, subject to conditions.

It was noted that one Member abstained from voting on this matter.

h. Item 10 – Dereham: Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke: Continue to display 
2 x Breckland Council flags and 2 x flag poles at the front of Elizabeth 
House: Applicant: Breckland Council: Reference: 3PL/2017/0050/A

Tom Donnelly, a Technical Administration Officer for Capita, presented 
the application that sought permanent permission for 2 x flag poles and 
flags either side of the entrance at the Breckland Council offices. 

Approved, as recommended.

31/17APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 9) 

Noted.

32/17APPEALS DECISIONS (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Action By

44



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY

Held on Wednesday, 22 March 2017 at 10.05 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs E J Bishop
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs K. Millbank
Mr T F C Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Tiffany Bentley - Licensing Officer
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Interim Legal Services Manager
Vicky Conlon - Trading Standards

Action 
By

10/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 January 2017 were confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

11/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, L 
Monument and Askew.

12/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

13/17 DECLARATION OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

14/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

None.

15/17 NORFOLK TRADING STANDARDS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Chairman introduced Vicky Conlon, a Lead Officer from Norfolk 
Trading Standards (NTS) who was in attendance to provide Members 
with a detailed overview of the functions that the NTS team covered.

Trading Standards was a Local Government service that worked to 

Public Document Pack

45

Agenda Item 11



Committee of the Licensing Authority
22 March 2017

2

protect consumers and support legitimate business.  It covered a number 
of functions but under the Licensing functions it had a statutory obligation 
to:

 combat illegal trading of alcohol and tobacco products
 monitor product safety
 address under-age sales
 food standards, labelling etc
 animal health and feed
 scams

Norfolk Trading Standards also operated Trusted Trader Schemes.

The daily work of a Trading Standards Officer (TSO) involved responding 
to and investigating consumer complaints and conducting routine 
inspection of businesses for compliance with legislation. If it was found 
that an offence had been committed, particularly if it was a repeat 
offender, this could lead to a criminal prosecution.

TSOs had various powers granted to them under the legislation that they 
enforced. These included the ability to enter and inspect premises, 
examine goods and conduct test purchases. In particular circumstances 
they may also enter a premise’s under warrant and seize goods and 
documents as evidence.

The main area discussed was in relation to illegal tobacco products of 
which there were three types, products made for selling on the illegal 
market, counterfeit versions of popular brands and products smuggled 
from other countries.  

Illegal tobacco products were always hidden from view and pictures and a 
short video was shown of the inventive types of apparatus used to 
conceal this merchandise.  ‘Tobacco’ dogs successfully found many of 
these hideaways.

The difference between genuine tobacco products and illegal tobacco 
products was highlighted.

The Chairman asked how much revenue was being lost from the sale of 
these illegal products.  Members were informed that it had halved in the 
last decade.  The main problem was under-age sales. Tobacco products 
were being sold to children from shops, car boot sales and on-line and 
there was no control as to what the counterfeit versions contained – this 
was a major health risk.  Test reports were shown of illegal cigarettes 
which did not self-extinguish unlike legitimate products that contained 
such safety measures.

NTS was intelligence lead and was always acted upon - many complaints 
stemmed from proprietors of established businesses and from parents.

An illegal tobacco event had been held in 2016 and a picture was shown 
of the amount of products found in one week by NTS.  Premises/people 
selling these products made a great deal of money that obviously was 

Action 
By

46



Committee of the Licensing Authority
22 March 2017

3

undeclared.

Licence reviews were treated very seriously and two shops had already 
had already been reviewed this year, one of which was under Appeal.

In response to a question in relation to whether TSO’s could search 
elsewhere if the products were kept elsewhere such as in a private 
dwelling, Members were informed that a warrant would have to be 
applied for if it was a residential property or a vehicle.

The Chairman asked if written warnings could be given for certain 
amounts seized.  It was noted that there was no definitive levels; 
however, Officers from the Police Licensing Team would attend in cases 
where large quantities were found just in case of any breaches to the 
peace.

Councillor Darby asked if TSO’s searched for other products too such as 
alcohol.  Members were informed that it was mainly tobacco but whilst on 
the premises many items were checked such as food labels etc.  
Counterfeit alcohol was normally found very quickly but came under the 
remit of HRMC.

The Licensing Officer asked if manufacturers supported the work of 
Trading Standards.   Members were informed that they had a very good 
relationship the manufacturers tested products and provided evidence.

A question was asked in relation to EU regulations and it was explained 
that the Trademarks Act was a UK directive.

It was noted that all illegal tobacco products were disposed of by way of 
shredding.

The Chairman thanked Vicky for attending.

16/17 FEEDBACK AND DISCUSSION ON RECENT PANEL MEETINGS 
(AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Licensing Officer asked Members for their feedback on the recent 
Panel meeting held on 10 March 2017.

The Chairman felt that it had gone very well. The premises had been 
closed for a while whilst being refurbished and the extension, to 
incorporate what was the outside drinking/smoking area, would alleviate 
any noise issues. The Panel had asked the Licence Holder to review the 
new extension in the summer months to ensure that it would not get too 
hot for customers and look at the possibility of installing air conditioning 

There was nothing else to report.

17/17 FEEDBACK FROM TRAINING (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Members had thoroughly enjoyed the recent training session held at 
Elizabeth House and another date had been set for mock hearings to 
take place in September 2017.

Action 
By

47



Committee of the Licensing Authority
22 March 2017

4

The Chairman asked Members to contact the Democratic Services 
Officer if they had any other training needs which could then be added to 
the agenda for discussion.

The meeting closed at 11.10 am

CHAIRMAN

Action 
By

48



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Held on Wednesday, 22 March 2017 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs E. J. Bishop
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs K. Millbank
Mr T. F. C Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Tiffany Bentley - Licensing Officer
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Interim Legal Services Manager
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By

10/17MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 11 January 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

11/17APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Askew and 
L Monument.

12/17URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

13/17DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

14/17NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

None.

15/17FEEDBACK AND DISCUSSION ON RECENT PANEL MEETINGS 
(AGENDA ITEM 6) 

This matter had already been discussed at the Committee of the Licensing 

Public Document Pack

49

Agenda Item 12



Licensing Committee
22 March 2017

2

Authority held immediately before this meeting.

16/17TAXI LICENSING AND THE EQUALITY ACT 2010 (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Licensing Officer presented the report which asked Members to 
consider the information within the report and make a decision as to 
whether to implement the provisions of Section 165, 166 and 167 of the 
Equality Act 2010. 

The Government was now introducing Sections 165 and 167 of the 
Equality Act 2010 in relation to the assistance of passengers in 
wheelchairs using designated taxi and private hire vehicles and these 
requirements were expected to come into effect on 6 April 2017.

These provisions allowed a Licensing Authority to create a list of 
‘designated vehicles”, vehicles which were capable of carrying passengers 
in wheelchairs (Section 167) and then required drivers of those vehicles to 
provide mobility assistance (Section 165).

Some drivers may have a medical or physical condition or disability which 
would make it impossible or unreasonably difficult to provide the sort of 
physical assistance required.  The Local Authority could therefore grant 
exemptions from those duties under the provision of Section 166 of the 
Act.

The Chairman wanted to clarify whether taxi drivers would be fined if they 
refused to transport a wheelchair and she asked if those drivers that were 
classed as exempt would have to produce a letter from their GP and 
undertake a medical assessment.  Members were informed that this would 
have to be done on a case by case basis, the definition of heavy lifting 
would have to be constituted and a list would have to be created.  
Breckland currently had nine wheelchair accessible vehicles and the 
Licensing Team could already direct the public to those vehicles if 
required.

The Interim Legal Services Manager explained that if Breckland decided to 
go ahead and implement these provisions, the list could be published on 
the Council’s website.

Many questions were asked and a number of concerns were raised and 
Councillor Brame saw the logic in the bigger cities implementing these 
provisions but not for Breckland Council and suggested the second option.  
Councillor Bishop agreed with the aforementioned suggestion.

Councillor Darby mentioned the Dial a Bus in Swaffham that was used for 
this purpose; this was a door to door transport service using mini-buses 
with low steps and wheelchair lifts.

Councillor Sharpe felt that there should be a list but the owners of those 
vehicles should be able to make a choice.  He did not agree with them 
having to have a medical.  Councillor Gilbert agreed that vehicles should 
be registered.

The Chairman asked the Officers if they had any idea of costs.  Members 
were informed that the majority of the costs would be Officer/legal time but 

Action By

50



Licensing Committee
22 March 2017

3

once set up the costs would be fairly low.  

Councillor Brame felt that these provisions had not been well thought out.

Councillor Monument felt that without a list, firms could charge what they 
wanted.  He further felt that failing to have a list was failing those people.

The Chairman rounded up the debate and highlighted the following points 
for and against if Members were mindful to approve:

 the cost to Breckland Council for drawing up the Policy
 suitable vehicles already existed in the Breckland area
 there had been no complaints thus far
 there could be cost implications to the drivers
 it would be helpful for the public to have an on-line list

The Chairman was of the opinion that Breckland Council should hold back 
and wait to see what other Councils did.

Councillor Brame proposed the second option - to do nothing and not 
enact the provisions of Sections 165,166 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010, 
and to have this subject as an on-going item on future agendas.

The Chairman agreed but felt that a standing item was not necessary and 
it was agreed that an update could be requested at the November meeting.

RESOLVED that:

1. the provisions of Sections 165, 166 and 167 of the Equality Act 
2010 not be enacted; and

2. an update be brought to the Licensing Committee meeting in 
November 2017.

The meeting closed at 12.00 pm

CHAIRMAN

Action By

51



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Friday, 24 February 2017 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr P S Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)

Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs L.H. Monument

Also Present
Mr T. Ludlow
Mr K. Stevens

Independent Member
Independent Member

In Attendance
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation 

(S151 Officer)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer BDC)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and Performance 

Manager
Emma Hodds - Internal Audit Consortium Manager (IACM)
Alison Riglar - Manager, Ernst & Young
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
Opening Remarks

Members of the Committee joined the Chairman in thanking Tim Ludlow 
and Keith Stevens for all their work as Independent Members for the 
Governance and Audit Committee over the past six years.

1/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

a. Terms of Reference Review (Minute No. 66/16)

Under the second recommendation it was agreed that the word 
Members be changed to membership.

b. Minutes

Subject to the above amendment (a), the Minutes of the meeting 
held on 9 December 2016 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.

2/17 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING ITEM) 
(AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Work Programme (Minute No. 69/16)

52

Agenda Item 13



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

2

Referring to the Self-Assessment Exercise and Action Plan which 
according to the Minutes should have been emailed to Members in 
advance of the February meeting, Members were informed that the 
documentation had only recently been received from CIPFA and would be 
emailed to Members prior to the next meeting.  The Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager was pleased to inform Members that the format of 
the questionnaire had changed and was now more succinct.

3/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Nairn and Taylor.

4/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

5/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

6/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

None.

7/17 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Training would be arranged for any new Members appointed at the 
Annual Full Council meeting May 2017.

The Chairman advised that a Standards complaint had been received and 
under the adopted arrangements three Members of the Governance and 
Audit Committee would have to sit on a Hearing Panel if the complaint 
was not resolved. Training had been arranged at 11.30am on 21 March 
2017 followed by the Hearing at 2pm.

The Executive Manager for Governance explained that it was the 
Monitoring Officer’s responsibility to select those three Members.

8/17 REVIEW OF STANDARDS LOCAL ARRANGEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 
8) 

The Executive Manager for Governance & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
presented the report which sought the adoption of a revised set of Local 
Arrangements for dealing with Standards Complaints, subject to 
consultation with the Independent Person.

The Council’s current arrangements had been in place for almost five 
years and, whilst appropriate at the time, were now on occasions 
cumbersome and unnecessarily complicated.

This revised set of arrangements (see appendices B to E) would reduce 
the number of steps involved in dealing with complaints.  Members’ 
attention was drawn to the key changes that had been highlighted at 
section 2 of the report.

Action By

53



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

3

A number of questions and concerns were raised and a number of 
changes were proposed to the following appendices under the following 
headings (highlighted in italics) including:

Appendix A – Code of Conduct

Gifts and Hospitality

It was agreed that Officers would be tasked to clarify whether the amount 
of £100 was still applicable.

 To add the following wording to paragraph 2.3.1 to read: notify the 
Monitoring Officer in writing of any gift offered

Appendix B – How to make a complaint about a District, Town or Parish 
Councillor In Breckland

What factors will be taken into account in deciding whether to 
investigate the complaint:

 To add another bullet point at the top of this list to read: is this 
matter for the Police?

 Question marks to be added to all bullet points accordingly.

Investigation
 To add the following words to the final sentence to read: “The 

Monitoring Officer may delegate the investigation to any Breckland 
Council Officer 

At the end of the investigation

 To add a further bullet point to read: report to Council of which the 
Councillor is in breach

 To add the following words to the fifth bullet point to read: 
Requirement that the member to undergo training

 To add a separate list of sanctions for Parish and Town Councils

Appendix C – Councillors’ Code of Conduct Complaint Form

 To add the following wording to the final paragraph under Section 
1 to read: If you have serious concerns about the release of your 
name and a summary.……

 To add the following wording to the first paragraph under Section 
4 to read: …and specify the relevant paragraph(s) of the Code.

The Executive Manager for Governance understood the Committee’s 
concerns and suggested that further work to tighten up the wording within 
this document was required.

It was noted that throughout the document the words Councillors, 
Members and Councils were used quite frequently and it was agreed that 
consistency in relation to the definitions was required.

It was further agreed that when completed, the Executive Manager for 
Governance would circulate the report to Members for their agreement 
prior to its submission to the Full Council meeting in April 2017.

Action By

54



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

4

9/17 PROCESSES IN PLACE FOR REVIEWING FINANCIAL & 
CORPORATE PERFORMANCE (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The Chief Accountant and Deputy S151 Officer presented the report.  

At the previous meeting the Governance & Audit Committee Members 
had questioned the process for reviewing performance at the Council.  
This report provided the Committee with those current processes in order 
to provide assurance that a relevant and fit for purpose process was in 
place at the Council (see paragraphs 1.2 to 1.11 for details) 

The Chairman thought that it had been agreed that this Committee would 
be provided with some form of an annual return for, for example, the 
Council’s property portfolio.  Members were informed that this came 
under Cabinet’s remit; it was not the role of Governance & Audit 
Committee to scrutinise and review, it was there to review the governance 
framework.  Councillor Hewett mentioned the Annual Governance Report 
that this Committee signed off and therefore felt that it did form part of that 
process.  The Executive Director for Commercialisation & S151 Officer 
explained that if the Council had an issue that had not been dealt with 
then that would be when the Governance and Audit Committee should 
intervene.  The Internal Audit Consortium Manager advised that the 
Governance & Audit Committee’s role was to review the processes and it 
did receive reports throughout the year and this report being discussed 
was there to provide Members with assurance.  Councillor Wilkinson 
agreed that there was a rigorous system in place.

Councillor Hewett drew attention to section 1.6 of the report and asked 
what constituted an area of concern.  He also asked what the process 
involved in relation to ‘horizon scanning’.  In response to the first question, 
the Chief Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer explained that an area of 
concern was when there was a risk to the budget.  Members were 
informed that performance issues were ‘flagged up’ on the Covalent 
system.  Referring to the Governance Framework, i.e. the internal Boards 
that were in place, the Internal Audit Consortium Manager reminded 
Members that this had been reviewed in 2016 and was given a 
substantial assurance.

Councillor Hewett felt that the processes the Council used were very 
good.

The Chairman assured Members that if any substantial amendments to 
the Framework were made it would be reported back to this Committee.

RESOLVED that the report be noted.

10/17 ANNUAL CERTIFICATION REPORT (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA 
ITEM 10) 

This was the Claims & Returns Annual Report, the final report for 
2015/16.  

Alison Riglar, the Manager, Ernst & Young advised that for 2015/16 just 
the certification of the housing benefits subsidy claim was required.  
Members’ attention was drawn to the table highlighted on page 42 of the 

Action By

55



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

5

agenda pack and it was noted that the methodology determined by the 
Department for Work and Pensions was followed and although the claim 
was not amended, a qualification letter was submitted.

Page 43 of the agenda pack highlighted the fees that had been set by 
PSAA which had been reduced by £2,716.

Mr Ludlow asked for an explanation in relation the second issue where it 
stated that errors would always result in an underpayment of benefit.  
Members were informed that this was a requirement that had to be 
reported.

The Annual Certification Report was otherwise noted.

11/17 BRECKLAND 2016/17 AUDIT PLAN (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

The Manager, Ernst & Young presented the Audit Plan for the year 
ending 31 March 2017. The key areas within the report were highlighted.  
In response to a question Members were informed that it was the PSAA 
who set the fees.

Members noted the report.

12/17 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY (AGENDA 
ITEM 12) 

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager presented the report which 
examined the progress made between 1 April 2016 and 10 February 2017 
in relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17.  
The report also included abbreviated executive summaries in respect of 
the audit reviews that had been finalised in the course of this period.

Members were reminded that only a verbal report had been provided at 
the previous meeting and that this report which included that verbal 
update now brought the Committee up to date with current progress.

Members’ attention was drawn to page 67 of the agenda which 
highlighted the significant changes to the approved Internal Audit Plan, 
the progress made in delivering the agreed audit work and the outcomes 
that had arisen from the agreed audit work.  It was noted that the main 
part of the plan of work had been completed by TIAA Ltd, with West 
Suffolk Audit completing the Revenues and Benefits audit reviews 
through the ARP arrangements.  In summary 93 days of programmed 
work had been completed by TIAA Ltd and 25 days completed by West 
Suffolk Audit, totalling 118 days of the revised 176 days (71%).  All 
remaining work had been timetabled in with all work to be completed by 
24 March 2017.

Attention was drawn to section 4.6 of the report which provided Members 
with an overall view of the assurances awarded.

Referring to Appendix 2 of the report, Mr Hewett was surprised that 
Payroll and Human Resources had been reimbursing mileage claims 
without evidence of receipts The Internal Audit Consortium Manager 
advised that a recommendation had already been implemented to 
address this issue and she would be meeting with the HR Manager as 

Action By

56



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

6

VAT could not be claimed without this evidence.

RESOLVED that the outcomes of the eight audits completed by TIAA, in 
the period covered by the report, and the amendments to the 2016/17 
internal audit plan were noted.

13/17 FOLLOW-UP REPORT ON AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS (AGENDA 
ITEM 13) 

This report provided Members with the position on the progress made by 
Management in implementing agreed Internal Audit recommendations as 
at 1 February 2017.

Due to formatting and printing issues, replacement copies of the 
appendices were circulated at the meeting. Copies of the appendix that 
had been omitted from the agenda were also circulated.

In 2015/16 there were 12 recommendations still outstanding (one urgent, 
10 important and one needing attention).  The management responses in 
relation to these outstanding recommendations had been highlighted in 
Appendix 3 and a management response had been provided in relation to 
these (see Appendix 4).

Referring to audit reference BRK 1704, Environmental Services - 
contaminated waste, the Chairman felt that this could have huge financial 
implications to the Council and was surprised to read that no extension 
had been agreed and no update had been provided.  Members were 
informed that this risk was going to be discussed at the Joint 
Performance, Risk and Audit Board meeting next week.  The Chief 
Accountant & Deputy S151 Officer advised that the Serco contract cost 
against budget was measured on a monthly basis on the Covalent 
system, so that variances were highlighted promptly.

Mr Ludlow felt that there had been some improvements made but in his 
opinion there were still far too many recommendations outstanding and 
felt that a realistic timetable should be set.  The Internal Audit Consortium 
Manager assured Members that the use of Covalent, the new 
Performance Management System, had improved matters considerably 
but a watching brief would still be kept.

The Chairman felt that the historic outstanding recommendations should 
be looked at and he asked if it would be appropriate to inform the 
Executive Members of the Committee’s concerns.  Members were 
reminded that Officers could be called into the Governance & Audit 
Committee if they felt that the response was inadequate.  In response to 
the latter question, Christine Marshall, the Executive Director for 
Commercialisation & S151 Officer explained that this could be actioned 
through the Minutes.  The Internal Audit Consortium Manager pointed out 
that all remaining relevant recommendations would be included in the 
Annual Report & Opinion.  Although he appreciated that everyone was 
very busy, Mr Hewett highlighted Capita and the risks that had been on 
the report for two years.  He also highlighted the website risks and felt 
that the dates should not be extended.  Members were informed that 
Capita had a separate action plan.  Greg Pearson, the Corporate 
Improvement & Performance Manager advised that the forthcoming 
meeting of the Internal Performance, Risk & Audit Board would pick up all 

Action By

57



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

7

these outstanding issues. The Internal Audit Consortium Manager 
assured Members that Breckland Council was in a good position 
compared to other authorities.

The contents of the report were otherwise noted.

14/17 STRATEGIC AND ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT PLANS 2017/18 
(AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager presented the report which 
provided an overview of the stages followed prior to the formulation of the 
Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18 to 2019/20 and the Annual 
Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18.

The Annual Internal Audit Plan would then serve as the work programme 
for the Council’s Internal Audit Services Contractor, TIAA Ltd.  It would 
also provide the basis for the Annual Audit Opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of Breckland Council’s framework of 
governance, risk management and control.

Members were informed that these were important documents and 
needed to be noted and approved.  Attention was drawn to the most 
important appendix, the Annual Internal Audit Plan, appendix 4 of the 
report; this highlighted the work to be provided by Eastern Internal Audit 
Services (EIAS) which encompassed 20 audits, 10 of which would be 
jointly carried out at Breckland and South Holland DC.  The Internal Audit 
Consortium Manager advised that for the joint audits, the report would 
either be a joint one, or two separate ones; however, the testing would be 
carried out at the same time regardless.  It was noted that the appendices 
provided the scope and the timing of these reviews. 

Councillor Hewett drew attention to appendix 3 of the Progress Report on 
Internal Audit Activity (Agenda item 12) in comparison to appendix 5 of 
this report and had noticed that the number of performance measures had 
decreased.  Members were informed that going forward Internal Audit 
would only be measuring a total of 11 indicators.

The scrutiny function of which the Governance & Audit Committee did not 
have was discussed. 

The Chairman asked if the auditors were looking at the way the costs 
were shared between Breckland and South Holland District Council.  The 
Executive Director for Commercialisation & S151 Officer advised that this 
matter had been subject to a great deal of debate but was more of a 
scrutiny role and was subject to review.

RESOLVED that the following reports be noted and approved:

a. the internal Audit Charter for 2017/18;
b. the Internal Audit Strategy for 2017/18;
c. the Strategic Internal Audit Plans 2017/18 to 2019/20; and
d. the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2017/18.

Action By

58



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

8

15/17 EXTERNAL QUALITY ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
(AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager presented the report which 
concerned the results of an external review by the Institute of Internal 
Auditors of EIAS’ conformance with the Standards.

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager was pleased with the outcome of 
the assessment as it demonstrated that the contract currently in place 
was working well.

RESOLVED that the results of the assessment and the resultant action 
plan be noted.

16/17 STRATEGIC RISK REGISTERS/QUARTERLY UPDATE - RISK 
MANAGEMENT (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

Greg Pearson, the Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager 
presented the report that informed the Committee on the current status of 
the Council’s strategic risks.

The Chairman mentioned the low return of the Council’s assets and 
asked when the Governance & Audit Committee would be looking at this 
in terms of risk appetite.  Members were informed that they would be able 
to comment on the risk appetite but it was the Council that set it and 
therefore it would be the Council that took that risk.

The Internal Audit Consortium Manager explained that every report that 
this Committee had did have risk implications which Members were 
obliged to consider.  The Chairman said that he now had a greater 
understanding of the Committee’s role.  Mr Ludlow agreed this ensured 
that there was an effective risk management process in place.

The Chairman congratulated the Corporate Improvement & Performance 
Manager for all his hard work in getting this register to the requested 
standard; the Committee now had a direction of travel.

It was agreed that this report and the restricted report at agenda item 20 
would be discussed together. The Committee then moved to exclude the 
press and public.

17/17 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

Noted.

18/17 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Friday, 9 June 2017 at 
10.00am in the Norfolk Room were noted.

19/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 19) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act.

Action By

59



Governance & Audit Committee
24 February 2017

9

20/17 RESTRICTED STRATEGIC RISK REGISTERS/QUARTERLY UPDATE 
- RISK MANAGEMENT (AGENDA ITEM 20) 

Following a number of questions it was highlighted that the Risk Strategy 
was still under development and would be brought to this Committee 
accordingly.

It was noted that with the exception of one item everything else had 
remained the same. It was agreed that a watching brief should be kept on 
this this item.

The Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager advised that there 
was further work required in relation to risk appetite.  

The contents of the report were otherwise noted.

The meeting closed at 12.20 pm

CHAIRMAN

Action By

60



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance & Monitoring 
Officer 

To: Governance & Audit Committee – 24th February 2017
Full Council – 6 April 2017

Author: Mark Stinson, Executive Manager - Governance

Subject: Review of Standards Arrangements

Purpose: To review the existing Standards arrangements to ensure that they are 
proportionate and otherwise fit for purpose.

Recommendation(s): 
 
1) To recommend to Council the adoption of a revised set of Local Arrangements for dealing 

with Standards Complaints, subject to consultation with the Independent Person.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 contains the current legislative arrangements for elected Member 
standards of conduct within local authorities. This superseded the previous arrangements 
contained in the Local Government Act 2000. The Localism Act also abolished Standards 
for England (earlier known as the Standards Board) and the associated regulatory 
framework.  The Act also removed the obligation for members to agree to adhere to a 
model Code applicable across the country. The obligation to have a statutory Standards 
Committee and for Members to provide an undertaking to comply with a Code were also 
repealed, along with the sanctions of disqualification and suspension from office.

1.2 Nonetheless, there remains a duty on Councils under Sections 27 and 28 of the 
Localism Act 2011 to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by elected and 
co-opted members when acting in that capacity; to adopt a Code of Conduct which is 
consistent with the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership; to have arrangements in place for the investigation 
of allegations and for the making of decisions on allegations. How this is achieved in 
each Council now involves a much greater degree of local choice than was available 
under the previous regime. The Council’s current arrangements were adopted by 
Council on 24 May 2012.

1.3 Breckland Council’s current code (Appendix A) is published in part 5 of its Constitution, and 
is also available on the Council’s website together with a copy of the current Standards 
Arrangements.

1.4 The Act also required the appointment of one or more “Independent Persons”, whose 
role is both to act as consultee before the Monitoring Officer makes a decision on any 
allegation s/he has decided to investigate, and also to be consulted by the Monitoring 
Officer at any other appropriate stage. Fiona Anthony was appointed in 2012 and re-
appointed in 2015. 

1.5 The current arrangements have been in place for almost five years and, whilst appropriate 
at the time, are now on occasions cumbersome and unnecessarily complicated. The 

61

Agenda Item 14



current arrangements were largely based on a model set of arrangements that were 
adopted by a number of authorities at the time. Many of the authorities, including others in 
Norfolk,  have subsequently reviewed and in most cases simplified the arrangements to 
allow greater flexibility for the Monitoring Officer to deal with a complaint in a timely and 
efficient manner.

1.6 With this in mind, a review of the current arrangements is now appropriate, and the 
proposed revised arrangements together with a revamped Complaints Form and proposed 
Hearing Procedures for both District and Parish Councillor complaints can be found at 
Appendices B to E. 

2.0 KEY POINTS

2.1 The revised arrangements reduces the number of steps involved in dealing with 
Complaints, particularly where the Monitoring Officer considers that there has not been a 
breach of the Code of Conduct.

2.2 The requirement for the Monitoring Officer to seek local resolution at each stage is 
removed. Local resolution still remains an important option, but recognises that in some 
instances this may not always be the best option and allows greater flexibility for the 
Monitoring Officer to decide how best to proceed with a complaint.

2.3 The revised arrangements highlight the type of complaints that the Monitoring Officer 
cannot investigate; hopefully reducing the number of complaints which are outside of the 
jurisdiction of the Monitoring Officer.

2.4 The Monitoring Office will be able to consider whether a complaint should be progressed at 
the outset, having taken into account a number of factors listed in the revised 
arrangements.

2.5 Procedures for Hearing Panels are formalised for hearings in respect of both District and 
Parish Councillors, should complaints reach this stage.

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1 Agree the revised arrangements and recommend to Council.

3.2 Agree the revised arrangements with amendments.

3.3 Do nothing and continue with the current arrangements.

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1 The procedure will allow the complaints to be dealt with in a more timely and efficient 
manner, thereby reducing the cost of the service.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Reduced administrative burden in the process and speedier response to complaints and 
subject members. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

62



5.2 Constitution & Legal

Elected members and co-optees are required to act in accordance with the Council’s Code 
of Conduct and the Council must have appropriate arrangements in place, in accordance 
with the Localism Act 2011

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

No issues to raise.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy, Interim Legal Services Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656219
Email: sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Breckland Councils Code of Conduct
Appendix B How to make a complaint about a District, Town or Parish Councillor 

in Breckland
Appendix C Complaint Form
Appendix D Hearing Procedures – District Councillor
Appendix E Hearing Procedures – Parish Councillors

63



       Appendix A

Breckland Council

Code of Conduct 

1. Expected behaviours

1.1 Breckland Council has adopted this Code setting out the expected behaviours 
required of its members or co-opted members, acknowledging that they each 
have a responsibility to represent the community and work constructively with 
our staff and partner organisations to secure better social, economic and 
environmental outcomes for all. 

1.2 In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity 
all Councillors must be committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent 
with the following principles to achieve best value for our residents and 
maintain public confidence in this Authority. 

SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of 
the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

INTEGRITY: Holders of public office should not place themselves 
under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 
organisations that might seek to influence them in the performance of 
their official duties. 

OBJECTIVITY: In carrying out public business, including making public 
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for 
rewards and benefits, holders of public office should make choices on 
merit. 

ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are accountable for their 
decisions and actions to the public and must submit themselves to 
whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

OPENNESS: Holders of public office should be as open as possible 
about all the decisions and actions that they take. They should give 
reasons for their decisions and restrict information only when the wider 
public interest clearly demands. 

HONESTY: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private 
interests relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any 
conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should promote and support 
these principles by leadership and example.

64



1.3 As a Member of Breckland Council, your conduct will in particular address the 
statutory principles of the code of conduct by: 

I. Championing the needs of residents – the whole community and in a 
special way your constituents, including those who did not vote for you 
- and putting their interests first. 

II. Dealing with representations or enquiries from residents, members of 
our communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 

III. Not allowing other pressures, including the financial interests of 
yourself or others connected to you, to deter you from pursuing 
constituents' casework, the interests of the Breckland area or the good 
governance of the Authority in a proper manner. 

IV. Exercising independent judgement and not compromising your position 
by placing yourself under obligations to outside individuals or 
organisations who might seek to influence the way you perform your 
duties as a member/co-opted member of this Authority. 

V. Listening to the interests of all parties, including relevant advice from 
statutory and other professional officers, taking all relevant information 
into consideration, remaining objective and making decisions on merit. 

VI. Being accountable for your decisions and co-operating when 
scrutinised internally and externally, including by local residents. 

VII. Contributing to making this Authority’s decision-making processes as 
open and transparent as possible to enable residents to understand 
the reasoning behind those decisions and to be informed when holding 
you and other members to account but restricting access to information 
when the wider public interest or the law requires it 

VIII. Behaving in accordance with all your legal obligations, alongside any 
requirements contained within this Authority’s policies, protocols and 
procedures, including on the use of the Authority’s resources. 

IX. Valuing your colleagues and staff and engaging with them in an 
appropriate manner and one that underpins the mutual respect 
between you that is essential to good local government. 

X. Always treating people with respect, including the organisations and 
public you engage with and those you work alongside. 

XI. Providing leadership through behaving in accordance with these 
principles when championing the interests of the community with other 
organisations as well as within this Authority. 

65



2. Declaration of Pecuniary Interests

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 provides for registration and disclosure of pecuniary 
interests and in Breckland Council this will be done as follows: 

 On taking up office a member or co-opted member must, within 28 days of 
becoming such, notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interests’, as prescribed by the Secretary of State.

 On re-election or re-appointments, a member or co-opted member must, 
within 28 days, notify the Monitoring Officer of any ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interests’ not already included in his or her register of interests.

 If a member or co-opted member is aware that they have a ‘disclosable 
pecuniary interest’ in a matter they must not participate in any discussion 
or vote on the matter at a meeting.

 If a member or co-opted member is aware of a ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interest’ in a matter under consideration at a meeting but such interest is 
not already on the Council’s register of interests or in the process of entry 
onto the register having been notified to the Monitoring Officer, the 
member or co-opted member must disclose the ‘disclosable pecuniary 
interest’ to the meeting and register it within 28 days of the meeting at 
which it is first disclosed. 

2.2   The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the room as stated in the 
Standing Orders of this Council.

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Personal Interests) Regulations 2012 No.1464 as follows:

Subject Prescribed description

Employment, 
office, trade, 
profession or 
vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(1). 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority— 

66

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/schedule/made#f00003%23f00003


(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
     (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; 
or 
     (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

2.3  Other Interests

Members must also avoid any situation in which their objectivity and 
impartiality may have been (or may appear to have been) compromised even 
though they may not have a disclosable pecuniary interest. There are many 
examples of how a non-pecuniary interest may arise, but examples include 
decisions made in respect of a body or organisation that you have a 
connection to (such as an outside body to which you have been appointed by 
the Council), or decisions that affect an individual who you have a close 
personal connection with.

2.4 Gifts and Hospitality

2.4.1 You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of 
any gift offered, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 which you 
have accepted as a member from any person or body other than the 
Authority.

2.4.2 The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of gifts 
and hospitality.

67



2.4.3 This duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit 
or hospitality comes within any description approved by the Authority for this 
purpose.

68



Appendix B

How to make a complaint about a District, Town or Parish 
Councillor in Breckland.

Guidance

This document explains how to make a complaint if you are unhappy about 
behaviour of an elected Councillor or co-opted Member (both referred to as 
‘Members’ in this document) of Breckland Council or a Town or Parish Council.

It also explains:-

• What you can complain about;
• What will happen to your complaint.

Code of Conduct

Breckland Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for its members, which is 
available for inspection on the authority’s website www.breckland.gov.uk and on 
request from the Council Offices.

Each town / parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If anyone 
wishes to inspect a town / parish council’s Code of Conduct, they should visit any 
website operated by the town / parish council or request the town / parish clerk to 
allow inspection of the relevant Code of Conduct.

How to make a complaint

Your complaint needs to be made in writing using the Councillors’ Code of Conduct
Complaint Form. The form can be found on the Council’s website at 
www.breckland.gov.uk. If you do not have access to a computer a form may be 
obtained by contacting Democratic Services on 01362 656295 or 
standards@breckland.gov.uk.

Once completed please send your complaint form together with any documents that
support your complaint to 

69

file:///C:/Users/sarahwolstenholmesmy/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/CU3W4TIF/www.breckland.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/sarahwolstenholmesmy/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/CU3W4TIF/www.breckland.gov.uk


Appendix B

The Monitoring Officer
Democratic Services
Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole Loke
Dereham
Norfolk, NR19 1EE

or email: standards@breckland.gov.uk

The following sections of this document are intended to help you make sure you are
sending us all the information we need.

If you cannot write your complaint in English, we can arrange to have it translated
for you.

If you have any questions about the form, please contact the Monitoring Officer in 
writing.

What we cannot investigate

There are some complaints we will not investigate as a Councillor Code of 
Conduct complaint, including:-

• Complaints where a Member is not named;
• Complaints that are not in writing;
• Incidents or actions that are not covered by the Code of Conduct;
• Incidents that are about a fault in the way the Council rather than an individual 

member has or has not done something.
• Matters relating to the policies or performance of the Council generally. This is

known as maladministration and may be a matter for the Local Government
Ombudsman (www.lgo.org.uk); but should first be sent to us under our 
Corporate Complaints process at www.breckland.gov.uk.

• Complaints about employees;
• Incidents that happened before a Member was elected.
• Matters which occurred when the Member was not acting in their official 

capacity as a member.

The Complaint Form

Section 1 – Your contact details

• Please provide your full name, address, contact telephone number and
E-mail address if you have one.

Section 2 – About you

• Please tell us whether you are complaining as an Officer of the Council, 
member of the public etc.

70

file:///C:/Users/sarahwolstenholmesmy/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/CU3W4TIF/standards@breckland.gov.uk
http://www.lgo.org.uk/
file://bcf01/Democratic%20Services/Localism%20Act%20Complaints/Sample%20Standards%20Arrangements/www.breckland.gov.uk


Appendix B

Section 3 – Details of the Member you are complaining about

You can complain about Members of Breckland Council, or members of a Town or 
Parish Council within the district of Breckland. A full list of current Council
Members are available on the Council’s web page at (www.Breckland.gov.uk.)

Section 4 – What you can complain about: breach of the Code of 
Conduct.

You can complain about a Member breaking any part of their Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members. A copy of the Code of Conduct for Breckland Council 
Members can be found on the Council’s website (www.Breckland.gov.uk.) Each 
Town and Parish Council has its own Code of Conduct. The majority are the same or 
based on the District Council’s Code but you will need to consider the provisions of 
the Code of the relevant Town or Parish Council before completing this form.  Copies 
of the relevant codes can be found on the Breckland Council Website, or 
alternatively contact the relevant Town or Parish Clerk to obtain a copy of the Code 
adopted by that Council.

Evidence

If you believe a Member has breached their Code of Conduct, please attach any 
evidence that you feel is relevant to your complaint. For example, details of any 
witnesses or copies of relevant documents. We can only consider a complaint on the 
evidence that has been provided or made available to us.

Section 5 – Confidential information

In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe Members who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We will usually 
give them a copy of the complaint. We are unlikely therefore to withhold your identity 
or the details of your complaint unless the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that it 
is in the public interest to do so. For example, where the disclosure of your personal 
details may result in the evidence being compromised or destroyed by the subject 
Member, or if there is a real possibility of intimidation of the complainant or witnesses 
by the Subject Member.

What happens to your complaint?

When you submit your complaint we will write to you to let you know we have 
received it. We will give you our summary of what we consider the key issues to be. 
We will also tell the member that you are complaining about that we have received 
your complaint and the relevant part(s) of the Code of Conduct that it is alleged may 
have been breached.

The Monitoring Officer will then consider your complaint and decide whether it 
should be progressed. If it is progressed, it may be referred for investigation or other 

71

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/
file:///C:/Users/sarahwolstenholmesmy/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/CU3W4TIF/www.Breckland.gov.uk.)


Appendix B

action. As part of this process the Monitoring Officer will consult the District Council’s 
Independent Person for their views on the merits of the complaint. If the complaint is 
not progressed, we will write to you giving our reasons.

Failure to register or declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest is an interest that is defined in the Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. These include (but 
are not limited to) interests such as paid employment, sponsorship, contracts, land 
and securities. When there is a failure to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or 
where there is other evidence of criminality then we may refer the complaint to the 
Police

What is meant by ‘Other Action’

The Monitoring Officer may decide to refer your complaint for ‘other action’. This is a 
broad term that may include options such as seeking an agreed resolution, which 
might involve the member giving an apology or attending mediation. 

What factors will be taken into account in deciding what to do 
with your complaint?

The Monitoring Officer may take the following into account in deciding whether to 
investigate the complaint: 

 is this a matter for the police?
 is the matter serious enough to warrant the time and expense of 

further investigation?
 does the complaint appear to be politically motivated?
 does the complaint appear to be malicious, vexatious or repetitive?
 is it about something that happened so long ago that there would be 

little benefit in taking action now?
 is the outcome, including the availability of any likely sanction sought 

by the complainant, one that the Authority is empowered to deliver?
 if proven, would a finding of breach of the Code assist the Authority 

in its duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct?
 had the Member acted on the advice of an officer or the 

Independent Person in relation to the conduct complained of?
 did the conduct arise from lack of experience or training?
 had the Member apologised for the conduct or was he or she willing 

to apologise?
 is the subject matter of the complaint being dealt with through any 

other complaints, legal or regulatory process?

Please note: There is no provision for appeal or review of this decision not to 
investigate the complaint further, but reasons for the decision will be provided.

72



Appendix B

If a conflict of interest arises the Monitoring Officer or the Independent person may 
consult an Independent third person.

Investigation

If your complaint is investigated we will write to you and inform you of the timescales 
for completing the investigation. You will also have an opportunity to provide the 
investigator with any further information or documents that you consider relevant.
If the complaint relates to a parish councillor, depending on the nature of the 
allegation, in the first instance we may ask the parish council to assist with the 
investigation by locating and providing evidence. Responsibility for the investigation 
and the final decision on the outcome of the complaint will remain with the Monitoring 
Officer.  The Monitoring Officer may delegate an investigation to any Breckland 
Council officer, and may also commission an investigation by an external 
investigator.

At the end of an investigation

If the conclusion of the investigation is that there has been no breach of the Code 
and the Monitoring Officer considers that this is a reasonable conclusion, the 
Monitoring Officer will write to you and the person complained about to inform you 
that there will be no further action. 

There is no provision for appeal or review of this decision but reasons for the 
decision will be provided.

If the investigation concludes that there is evidence of a breach of the Code then the
Monitoring Officer will consult the Independent Person and make a decision either 
to:-

 resolve the matter without the need for a hearing or
 To convene a meeting of the Council’s Hearing Panel to hear the matter.

If a hearing takes place and concludes that there has been no breach of the Code 
then that is the end of the matter. There is no provision for appeal or review of that 
decision.

If the hearing concludes that there has been a breach of the Code the panel will
consider whether and what sanction it might be appropriate to impose on the 
member found to be in default. 

These are as follows:-

 Censure or reprimand.
 Report to a meeting of the District Council in respect of a district councillor.
 Report to a meeting of the Parish Council in respect of a parish councillor 
 Recommendation to the subject member’s Political Group Leader (or in the 

case of un-grouped members, recommend to Council or to Committee) to 
remove the member from membership of Committees or Sub-Committees.

 Recommendation to the Leader of the Council that the member be removed 
from the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities.

73



Appendix B

 Require the member to undergo training.
 Recommendation of removal of the member from external nominations or 

appointments.
 Withdrawal of facilities or services from the member including access to 

Council premises and/or IT facilities.

Please Note: In respect of certain sanctions against parish councillors (such as 
removal from committees, removal from external appointments and withdrawal of 
facilities, access or services), the Hearing Panel can only make a recommendation 
to the Town/Parish Council. Town/Parish Councils will be under no obligation to 
accept any such recommendation – though they are under a duty to maintain high 
standards of conduct and must have regard to that duty when considering any 
recommendation of the Council. They will also be bound by the Monitoring Officer’s 
determination of whether there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct as stated 
above. 

Revision of these Arrangements

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements

Appeals

There is no right of appeal either as the complainant or the subject member against 
a decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings panel.

If it is felt that the authority has failed to deal with the complaint in accordance with 
these arrangements, a complaint can be made through the Corporate Complaints 
procedure (www.breckland,gov.uk) or the Local Government Ombudsman (www.lgo.org.uk)

74

http://www.breckland,gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/sarahwolstenholmesmy/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/CU3W4TIF/(www.lgo.org.uk)


Appendix C

COUNCILLORS’ CODE OF
CONDUCT COMPLAINT FORM

ONCE COMPLETED PLEASE RETURN TO: The Monitoring Officer, Democratic 
Services, Breckland Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, 
NR19 1EE

Your details

1 Please provide us with your name and contact details

Title:
First name:
Last name:
Address:

Daytime telephone:
Evening telephone:
Mobile telephone:
Email address:
Signature:
Date:

Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or to 
deal with your complaint.

However if your complaint is referred for assessment, we will tell the following people 
that you have made this complaint:

 the Councillor(s) you are complaining about
 the Parish or Town Clerk (if applicable)

If you need this document in large print, audio Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language, please 
contact Democratic Services on 01362 656295

75



Appendix C

We will tell them your name and give them details of your complaint. We will give them 
the full details of your complaint where necessary or appropriate to be able to deal with 
it. If you have serious concerns about the release of your name and a summary, or 
details of your complaint, please complete section 5 of this form.

2 Please tell us whether you are making this complaint as:

A Member of the public
An elected or co-opted Member of an Authority
Other Council Officer or Authority employee 
Other, please state ( )

Making your complaint

3 Please provide us with the name of the Councillor(s) you believe have 
breached the Code of Conduct and the name of their Council:

Title First name Last name Council name

4 Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the Councillor has 
done that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct and specify the relevant  
paragraph(s) of the Code. If you are complaining about more than one 
Councillor you should clearly explain what each individual person has done 
that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct.
It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into 
account by the Monitoring Officer when she decides whether to take any 
action on your complaint. For example:

 You should be specific, wherever possible; about exactly what you are 
alleging the Councillor said or did. For instance, instead of writing that 
the Councillor insulted you, you should state what it was they said.

 You should provide the dates of the alleged incidents wherever 
possible. If you cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a 
general timeframe.

 You should confirm whether there are any witnesses to the alleged 
conduct and provide their names and contact details if possible.

 You should provide any relevant background information. (e.g. minutes of 
meetings)

76



Appendix C

Please provide us with the details of your complaint. Continue on a separate 
sheet if there is not enough space on this form.

77



Appendix C
Only complete this next section if you are requesting that your identity is 
kept confidential

5 In the interests of fairness and natural justice, we believe Councillors who are 
complained about have a right to know who has made the complaint. We also 
believe they have a right to be provided with a copy the complaint.

Please note that requests for confidentiality or requests for suppression of 
complaint details will not automatically be granted. The Monitoring Officer will 
consider the request alongside the substance of your complaint. We will then 
contact you with the decision.  If your request for confidentiality is not granted, 
we will usually allow you the option of withdrawing your complaint.

However, it is important to understand that in certain exceptional 
circumstances where the matter complained about is very serious, we can 
proceed with an investigation or other action and disclose your name even if 
you have expressly asked us not to.

Please provide us with details of why you believe we should withhold your 
name and/or the details of your complaint:

Additional Help

Complaints must be submitted in writing.  This includes electronic 
submissions.  However, in line with the requirements of the Disability 
Discrimination Act 2005, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you if 
you have a disability that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.

We can also help if English is not your first language.

If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as 
possible.

Further information to help you complete this form can be found on the 
accompanying guidance notes.

78



Appendix D

Standards Hearing Procedure (District Councillor)

1. Formal Introductions of those present by the Chairman
• Members introduced
• Officers introduced – Monitoring Officer (MO) (or his/her Deputy) and Independent 

Person

2. Preliminary Issues
 Confirm Members interests disclosed in accordance with Code of Conduct (if 

relevant)
 Confirm meeting is quorate
 If the subject member is not present, decide whether to proceed
 Confirm whether the meeting will be held in public or in private session. If 

the meeting will be held in public session, confirmation that the Panel may 
decide to make their determination in private.

 Determine whether any additional witnesses are present, and whether they 
have been presented by the Subject member or Complainant. Determine 
whether the witnesses will be allowed to speak.

3. Hearing of complaint and findings
• MO to present their report.
• Complainant to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may determine the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the complainant and witnesses
• Subject member to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may seek to clarify the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the subject or witnesses.
• The Independent Person to present their views to the Panel
• The Panel may ask further questions of the Independent Person, and any of the 

other parties present.

4. Determination
• The Panel may resolve to close the meeting to deliberate in private.
• If so, the Panel to ask the Subject member, Complainant and any witnesses, 

members of the public and press to leave the room.
• Panel to determine whether the member failed to follow the Code of Conduct
• Panel to determine any sanctions or recommendations in light of their 

findings as to whether the member breached the Code of Conduct

It should be noted that the Independent Person is not a member of the Panel and 
does not take part in determination of the matter.

5. Confirmation
• All parties are recalled to the meeting
• The Chairman to summarise the Panels’ deliberations and announce their finding 

as to whether the member has breached the Code of Conduct
• The Chairman to confirm any sanctions to be undertaken 
• The Chairman to confirm that a decision notice will be placed on the Council’s 

website and available for public inspection.
• Chairman to close the meeting

79



Appendix D

Notes on the outcomes of the Hearing Panel:
The decision of the Hearing Panel is final. There are no further rights of appeal.

The Panel may decide on the following Sanctions where they identify that a Councillor has 
breached the Code of Conduct:

1 Publish its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct;

2 Report its findings to Council for information;

3 Recommend to the subject member’s Political Group Leader (or in the case of un-
grouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be removed 
from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council;

4 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the subject member be removed from 
the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities;

5 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the subject member;

6 Recommend the subject Member be removed from any or all outside appointments 
to which he/she has been appointed or nominated by the authority.

7 Withdrawal of facilities or services from the member including access to Council 
premises and/or IT facilities

When determining the sanctions that should be employed, the Panel may take 
into account any subsequent action undertaken by the Councillor to remedy 
the breach (for example, receipt of training or apology)

In respect of District Councillors, the Monitoring Officer is charged with ensuring that 
the necessary action is undertaken, including making recommendations to Council 
where necessary. The subject member will receive formal written notification within 
two weeks of the hearing as to the outcome of the meeting and any sanctions to be 
undertaken.

80



Appendix E

Standards Hearing Procedure - (Parish Councillor)

1. Formal Introductions of those present by the Chairman
• Members introduced
• Officers introduced – Monitoring Officer (MO) (or his/her Deputy) and Independent 

Person

2. Preliminary Issues
 Confirm Members interests disclosed in accordance with Code of Conduct (If 

Relevant)
 confirm meeting is quorate
 if the subject member is not present, decide whether to proceed
 Confirm whether the meeting will be held in public or in private session. If 

the meeting will be held in public session, confirmation that the Panel may 
decide to make their determination in private.

 Determine whether any additional witnesses are present, and whether they 
have been presented by the Subject member or Complainant. Determine 
whether the witnesses will be allowed to speak.

3. Hearing of complaint and findings
• MO to present their report.
• Complainant to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may determine the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the complainant and witnesses
• Subject member to make any further comments and invite any of their own 

witnesses to speak. The Panel may seek to clarify the amount of time the 
complainant, or witnesses, are provided to speak.

• Panel may cross-examine the subject or witnesses.
• The Independent Person to present their views to the Panel
• The Panel may ask further questions of the Independent Person, and any of the 

other parties present.

4. Determination
• The Panel may resolve to close the meeting to deliberate in private.
• If so, the Panel to ask the Subject member, Complainant and any witnesses, 

members of the public and press to leave the room.
• Panel to determine whether the member failed to follow the Code of Conduct
• Panel to determine any sanctions or recommendations in light of their 

findings as to whether the member breached the Code of Conduct

It should be noted that the Independent Person is not a member of the Panel and 
does not take part in determination of the matter.

5. Confirmation
• All parties are recalled to the meeting
• The Chairman to summarise the Panel’s deliberations and announce their finding 

as to whether the member has breached the Code of Conduct
• The Chairman to confirm any sanctions to be imposed or recommended to the 

Parish Council
• The Chairman to confirm that a decision notice will be placed on the Council’s 

website and available for public inspection. 
• Chairman to close the meeting

81



Appendix E

Notes on the outcomes of Hearing Panels:

The decision of the Hearing Panel is final. There are no further rights of appeal.

The Panel may decide on the following Sanctions where they identify that a Councillor has 
breached the Code of Conduct:

1. Publish its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct;

2. Report its findings to  the Town / Parish Council for information;

3. Recommend that the Town/Parish council arrange training for the subject 
member;

4. Recommend to the Town / Parish council that the subject member be removed 
from any or all outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed or 
nominated by the town / parish Council.

When determining the sanctions that should be employed, the Panel may take 
into account any subsequent action undertaken by the Councillor to remedy 
the breach (for example, receipt of training or apology)

In respect of Parish Councillors, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Parish Clerk within 
two weeks of the hearing of the outcome. The Parish Council is required to consider 
the Panel’s findings, and determine whether they agree with the findings or propose 
other action to be taken.

82



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member Growth and Commercialisation, Philip Cowen

To: Council 6 April 2017

(Author: Robert Campbell, Inward Investment Manager)

Subject: Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor (CNTC)

Purpose: To accept a £200k award from the Norfolk Business Rates Pool (BRP) on 
behalf of the CNTC Partnership as part of a funding package to support a 
two year CNTC delivery programme.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the BRP award of £200k, to support the delivery of the Cambridge Norwich Tech 
Corridor delivery programme, be accepted.

2) That the Council allocate up to £37.5k from the Organisational Development Reserve as a 
contribution to the match funding required to draw down the BRP award.

3) That subject to the satisfactory completion of all necessary legal and contractual due 
diligence, any negotiation with the funding body that arises from that process, and being 
satisfied that the project remains in the best interests of the Council and Breckland District, 
the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader be given delegated authority to sign the 
grant award contract and proceed with the project.

4) That Breckland Council agree to finance manage the programme, up to a programme budget 
of £600k, on behalf of the CNTC Partnership.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 On the 8th November 2016, Liz Truss, Secretary of State for Justice and Lord Chancellor, 
hosted the official launch of the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor, a 15 year vision to 
create £558m in economic growth at key locations along the A11 between Cambridge and 
Norwich.

1.2 The Tech Corridor was established to address three priorities:

- To encourage collaboration between existing communities of expertise within the 
corridor: digital, agri-tech/food, bio-tech and advanced engineering and manufacturing.

- To proactively market key employment and housing sites along the A11 corridor 
between Cambridge and Norwich.

- To attract Government funding to further enhance and consolidate the Corridor as an 
attractive destination for hi-tech companies and investment.

1.3 Breckland Council is a founding member of the CNTC Partnership which now comprises:

- Breckland Council
- Cambridgeshire County Council

83

Agenda Item 15



- East Cambridgeshire Council
- Forest Heath Council
- Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough LEP
- New Anglia LEP
- Norfolk County Council
- Norwich City Council
- South Norfolk Council
- St Edmundsbury Council
- Suffolk County Council

1.4 Within Breckland, the Tech Corridor will directly support the marketing of key employment 
and housing sites, including:

- Thetford Enterprise Park (TEP)
- Thetford Urban Extension (SUE)
- Snetterton Heath Employment Area
- Attleborough Urban Extension (SUE)
- Attleborough Employment Area

There will be additional benefits with the creation of employment throughout the District.

1.5 Rational for Technology Corridors

The Government’s new Industrial Strategy recognises the importance of capitalising on our 
centres of innovation and technical excellence, and the barriers which the UK’s relativity 
poor transport infrastructure and low volume of housebuilding cause when attempting to 
bring together larger areas within a technology cluster or corridor.

Despite the enormous investment required, other corridor ‘brands’ such as the Cambridge- 
Milton Keynes-Oxford Corridor are already attracting significant additional investment, 
coordinated by the Government’s new National Infrastructure Commission.  This is opening 
up new funding opportunities beyond the ‘traditional’ funding routes such as Growth Deals.

Breckland sits geographically midway between Cambridge and Norwich along a road and 
rail corridor whose connectivity improved significantly with the completion of the A11 
dualling.

One of Breckland’s major economic challenges is to transform from a low productivity, low 
wage economy into a knowledge rich economy where our manufacturers can benefit from a 
high value supply chain and the attracting of new companies with active and successful 
R&D programmes and significant levels of investment.

Traditionally these ‘knowledge rich’ companies have tended to cluster around high tech but 
increasingly expensive locations such as Cambridge.  The Tech Corridor will provide lower 
cost locations, including in Breckland, to provide well connected but more affordable 
alternatives.

1.6 In order to take this programme forward and on behalf of the CNTC Partnership, Breckland 
Council led on an application to secure £200k of Norfolk Business Rate Pool monies.  This 
application has been successful.

1.7 The £200k BRP monies will be matched with contributions from Norfolk CNTC partners to 
create a £400k (Norfolk) CTNC operating budget, with a further £200k being sought from 
partners within Suffolk and Cambridgeshire (the CNTC now covers parts of these three 

84



counties) towards a total operating budget of £600k.  This will support a two year delivery 
programme.

1.8 The budget will support the recruitment of up to three full time CNTC staff plus monies to 
support external marketing costs.

1.9 It is expected that the new delivery team will be managed by the New Anglia LEP but this is 
still subject to final negotiations.

1.10 The key activities of the CNTC delivery team will be to:

- Promote key employment and housing sites along the Cambridge Norwich Tech 
Corridor to potential investors, including private investors, institutional investors and 
hi-tech companies looking for high quality locations to set up and grow.

- Building relationships with a range of private and institutional investors and other 
organisations which operate within the investment supply chain.

- Construct specific proposals against requirements received from potential investors.

- Support the conversion of these proposals into secured investment.

- Build the UK and International reputation of the CNTC as desirable investment 
location, especially for high tech sectors, through a well-planned marketing and 
communications programme.

- Represent the CNTC Partnership as key events such as MIPIM.

- In partnership with the LEPs and local MPs, support representations and lobbying to 
Government in order to raise additional infrastructure and investment funding.

- Run an events programme aimed at supporting key sectors within the Tech Corridor, 
especially those working in high growth sectors, including agri-tech, bio-tech and 
advanced engineering & manufacturing.

- Coordinate activities with partners to ensure that investment enquires are dealt with in 
a well-coordinated manner.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Approve the recommendations in full.

2.2 Approve the recommendations in part.

2.3 Reject the recommendations.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The £200k BRP award provides an opportunity for the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor 
Partnership to commence a two year delivery programme.

85



3.2 Breckland has the single biggest concentration of employment and housing sites within the 
Tech Corridor and stands to benefit substantially in terms of bringing investment to those 
sites.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Marketing of key Breckland employment and housing sites within a brand with strong 
associations to the knowledge rich centres of Cambridge and Norwich.

4.2 Direct support to existing Breckland technology, engineering and manufacturing 
businesses.

4.3 Allows Breckland to be part of a growing tech corridor with aspirations to become a 
recognised global destination for tech businesses – building on the foundation of 
Cambridge’s global reputation.

4.4 Provides a means to lobby and propose to Government for additional infrastructure and 
technology investment – aligns with the Government’s new Industrial Strategy.

4.5 Provides part of the foundation for the transformation of Breckland towards a higher added 
value, higher wage and knowledge based economy.

4.6 The Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor will generate a significant local supply chain which 
can benefit companies all across Breckland.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & Diversity/Human 
Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; 
Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. Where 
the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these 
headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There will undoubtedly be environmental issues associated with employment-related 
development in Breckland.  However, these will be addressed as a component of the 
planning processes associated with individual developments.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 Sections 1 – 8 of the 2011 Localism Act give authorities a general power of competence.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 Any contracts arising from the accepting of this award will be procured according to the 
standing orders and financial regulations of the Council.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 This proposal clearly supports our corporate plan objectives of developing the local 
economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

86



5.5 Financial

5.5.1 All costs expended during the two CNTC two year delivery programme will be funded by 
the Partnership budget.  There is no planned financial expenditure by the Council beyond 
the £37,500 contribution requested.

5.6 Risk Management

5.6.1 The CNTC delivery programme team will be managed by one CNTC partner organisation 
with additional oversight by the CNTC Partnership Board.

5.6.2 It is proposed that Breckland Council manage the finances of the delivery programme 
through its Financial Management team with support from the Inward Investment team.

5.7 Staffing

5.7.1 The Economic Development Service will support the project from a Breckland perspective 
from existing resources.

5.7.1 The Council’s Finance Team will manage the budget on behalf of the CNTC Partnership 
from existing resources.

5.7.2 The Council will not be required to employ any of the new staffing for the CNTC delivery 
programme.  This will be undertaken by one of the other CNTC partners.

5.8 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.8.1 Quarterly meetings of the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor Partnership board have been 
undertaken.

5.8.2 Presentations on the Tech Corridor have been made to business forums covering Thetford, 
Snetterton and Attleborough.  These briefings will continue as the project progresses.

5.8.3 A major business consultation was undertaken in November 2016 with Thetford based 
Industrial businesses.  This was part of the Thetford Enterprise Park consultation and 
included a detailed briefing on the Tech Corridor project.

5.8.4 Briefings on the Tech Corridor project have taken place during the Council’s regular 
meetings with the major Snetterton land owners (initiated as part of the Snetterton 
Electricity Upgrade project).

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Directly affected :- All Saints & Wayland; Attleborough, Burgh and Haverscroft; 
Attleborough, Queens & Besthorpe, Harling & Heathlands, Thetford Boudica, Thetford 
Burrell, Thetford Castle, Thetford Priory and Forest.

6.2 Indirectly affected :- all wards in terms of strengthening the local economy.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LEP : Local Enterprise Partnership

87



Background papers:- Burton Knowles – A11 Feasibility Study

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Robert Campbell, Inward Investment Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656808
Email: robert.campbell@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report:  Proforma B, Financial Comments & Appraisal.

88



PROFORMA B

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.

20/03/17 MJC Page 1 of 1
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\2\9\AI00025926\$pel

lltk1.doc

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Mandy Chenery (Senior Accountant – Revenue & Projects)
REPORT: Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor (CNTC)
REPORT DATE: 06 April 2017

£ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Revenue
Income
NCC pooled business rates (82,500) (96,000) (21,500) (-)
Contribution from Partners (149,530) (174,000) (38,970) (-)
BDC contribution from Reserve (37,500) (-) (-) (-)
Contribution from Reserve (-) (-) (41,030) (-)
Costs
Project costs 242,500 256,000 101,500 -
Contribution to Reserve 27,030 14,000 - -
Total Revenue - - - -

Capital
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
N/A - - - -
Total Capital - - - -
Considered By: Council
Date: 06-04-17

Financial Services Comments
The report requests approval to accept a grant totalling £200,000 from the Business Rates Pool 
for the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor (CNTC) project.  

In addition the project will be match funded by other Norfolk CNTC partners of which 
Breckland’s element of the match funding will be £37,500.  

The project will receive £162,500 from Norfolk partners and may also receive additional 
contributions which have not been confirmed from Suffolk and Cambridgeshire totalling a further 
£200,000, meaning the total project over the 3 years would be £600,000 in total.   

Breckland will cashflow the project however it is planned that staff employment will be 
undertaken by the New Anglia LEP on behalf of the CNTC Partnership.

Financial Risks
Breckland’s contribution of £37,500 is requested to be funded from the Organisational 
Development Reserve (unallocated balance as at 28th February 2017 is £956,255).

Monitoring of spend in advance by the New Anglia LEP will be required by Breckland to ensure 
the terms and conditions of the funding from the Business Rates pool are met and this will be 
subject to Breckland submitting six monthly claims to recover the costs being supported by the 
NCC Business Rates Pool.  

89



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Leader of the Council, William Nunn 

To: Council – 6th April 2017 

Author: Chief Executive, Anna Graves

Subject: LGA Corporate Peer Challenge: Breckland Council and South Holland 
District Council

Purpose: To provide the Council with the full and final report, following the LGA 
corporate peer review for Breckland Council and South Holland District 
Council in December 2016

Recommendation(s): 

1) To note the content and recommendations of the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge report

2) That the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader develop an action plan arising from 
the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   Peer challenges are improvement focussed and tailored to meet individual councils’ 
needs. They are designed to complement and add value to a council’s own performance 
and improvement.  

1.2 The peer challenge team was asked to look in detail at a number of areas as outlined in 
Section 3 of the report. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing

2.2 Approve the recommendations as outlined in the action plan with no amendments 

2.3 Approve the recommendations as outlined in the action plan subject to amendments 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1   We accept the key recommendations in Section 2 of the report as a structured and 
informed reflection of our current position. This has been developed through dialogue and 
challenge. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To build on and consolidate our good progress driving value for money, resilience and 
competence.

4.2   Transformation programme is refocused with our capacity to and capability to deliver.

4.3   Growth programme is clearly identified and delivery resourced to enable Breckland to 
deliver its growth ambitions.
 

90

Agenda Item 16



5.0       IMPLICATIONS

5.1.1 Corporate Priorities
5.1.2 That the implementations of the recommendations of this report will support the four 

corporate priorities.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 None arising from this report

5.3      Transformation Programme
5.3.1   That there will be an enhanced focus on capacity and delivery.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LGA : Local Government Association

Background papers: -  

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Anna Graves, Chief Executive Officer
Telephone Number: 01362 656215
Email: chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Corporate Peer Challenge
South Holland District Council and Breckland Council
12th to 16th December 2016
Feedback Report -20 March 2017

91

mailto:chief.executive@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


 

 

   

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Corporate Peer Challenge 
South Holland District Council 
and Breckland Council  
 
12th to 16th December 2016  

 
Feedback Report – 20th March 2017 
 
 

 

92



 

1 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd 

 

1. Executive Summary  
 

Both councils define themselves as forward-thinking, entrepreneurial and innovative.  The 
unique cross-county boundary shared management arrangement and the ambitious 

timescales for removing both councils’ reliance on Revenue Support Grant demonstrate 
this.   
 

The two councils demonstrate sound financial management.  Whilst they face an on-going 
financial challenge, the situation does not dominate either authorities’ thinking.  They have 

adopted a positive approach to addressing the challenge, centred on increasing revenue 
through the realisation of the opportunities for economic growth in each district and through 
commercialisation.  Both councils have demonstrated their commitment to this approach 

by making significant investment funding available to support it. 
 

Both councils are doing a good job for their residents, with a range of good quality services 
and involvement in a number of major projects central to economic growth.  It is clear that 
significant progress has been made in relation to many of the areas that the councils have 

sought to improve over recent years.  Others have improved but they require further 
progress. 

 
The councils’ approach to performance management has gone through significant change 
and improvement.  A new performance management system has been implemented and 

there is regular formal reporting of performance to elected members.  The councils are 
increasingly utilising data and intelligence at the corporate level to inform activity and there 

are examples, that can be built upon, of the councils engaging residents directly in order to 
glean views and understanding in order to supplement such data and the local knowledge 
held by elected members. 

 
Strong and effective leadership is seen widely from both council Leaders and the Chief 

Executive.  This has been particularly noticed in the prominent roles they have played in 
relation to the ‘devolution agenda’ and in the economic growth agendas at the regional 
level.  The roles the two Leaders play across the local government community derive 

significant benefit for both organisations and their districts not least in terms of profile and 
influence.   

 
It is readily apparent that there is a huge amount going on across both councils and the 
areas they serve and there is good partnership working in both districts.  However, there is 

a need for the ambitions in the councils’ corporate plans regarding the growth agenda, 
along with how it is going to be shaped, to be more clearly articulated.  It is undoubtedly 

the case that strong and effective leadership, and good engagement in partnerships, has 
been seen from the councils in relation to devolution and economic growth at the regional 
level.  Ensuring this is mirrored at the more local level is important. 

 
Both councils have good quality elected members and there are positive relationships 

between councillors and officers at all levels.  We were impressed by those elected 
members that we met.  They are well informed and knowledgeable about issues facing 
their local communities, their council and local government generally and demonstrated a 

strong appetite to tackle difficult issues.   
 

93

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

2 

The political leadership is stabilising in Breckland.  This follows a change of Leader less 
than nine months ago and subsequent changes in the make-up of the Cabinet.  Cementing 

that stability is important for the continued success of the council and the partnership. 
 

The Executive Management Team is maturing and this will take a further step forward 
when a recently appointed Executive Director commences in post.  We would encourage 
the councils, at that point, to ensure there is absolute clarity in relation to the respective 

roles and responsibilities of each member of the Executive Management Team.   
 

Staff across both organisations generally feel well managed, valued and involved.  They 
also feel an increasing sense of empowerment.  Considerable effort is going in to 
improving the approach to people management in the councils.  Similar effort is being put 

in to enhancing both councils’ ICT effectiveness.   
 

There is still a sense that the potential benefits of the relationship between the two councils 
have yet to be fully capitalised upon.  There are back office functions where there could be 
greater integration of systems and approaches.  The complexity of the councils’ operating 

models are a challenge here but things are moving forward.  In relation to the talk of the 
two councils seeking to extend the shared management arrangements to include a third 

party, the conclusion we have come to is that there is greater benefit to be gained at this 
time from focusing on consolidating the existing partnership and, through this, putting 
themselves in the best possible position to capitalise on any third party opportunities as 

and when they arise.   
 

In South Holland, there are certain commercial ventures and contractual arrangements that 
have not delivered to the level envisaged.  The two primary examples are Compass Point 
and Welland Homes.  Compass Point needs specific attention in the immediate term to 

address issues.  Breckland’s commercial and contractual ventures have encountered 
fewer difficulties than those in South Holland but there are some issues which still require 

resolution.  Learning from all of the experiences in relation to these ventures is crucial to 
the future success of further such initiatives in both councils.  This is important in a context 
of major importance being attached to commercialisation as a key strand of the councils’ 

approach to addressing their financial challenges.   
 

‘Moving Forward’ is a single over-arching programme containing all of the councils’ growth 
and commercialisation initiatives and an ‘internal change’ element looking at changing and 
improving how both organisations operate.  It is important to ensure there is clarity 

regarding what needs to be focused on in relation to the programme, what is being sought 
from it and where the respective responsibilities and accountabilities lie.   

 
Whilst devolution has not come to fruition in either place, both councils are seen to have 
played an influential role.  Through the efforts of both council Leaders and the Chief 

Executive, relationships with other local authorities and the two councils’ reputations have 
been enhanced.  Key agendas have been progressed and the councils have demonstrated 

the ability to operate at a strategic level across a wider geography.  The chance should 
now be taken to drive forward whatever is felt to be important from devolution that can be 
achieved without legislative reform.   

 
 

94

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

3 

2. Key recommendations  
 
There are a range of suggestions and observations within the main section of the report 
that will inform some ‘quick wins’ and practical actions, in addition to the conversations 

onsite, many of which provided ideas and examples of practice from other organisations.  
The following are the peer team’s key recommendations to the councils: 

 

 It is clear that significant progress has been made in relation to many of the areas 
that the councils have sought to improve over recent years and elected members 

and staff of both councils should be applauded for this. 
 

 Both councils should consider developing more mechanisms to engage residents 
directly in order to glean views and understanding to supplement data from national 
sources and the local knowledge held by elected members. 

 

 It is important to ensure there is clarity regarding what needs to be focused on in 

relation to the ‘Moving Forward’ programme, what is being sought from it and where 
the respective responsibilities and accountabilities lie.  With such a broad 

programme, things need to move forward in a way that is cohesive and 
complementary, with people working effectively together to make them happen and 
with interdependencies clearly recognised.  There also needs to be clarity regarding 

how achieving each strand is resourced.  It will be important to develop, over the 
coming months, a clear sense of how use of the available funding for additional 

capacity and expertise needs to be prioritised.     
 

 The councils need to develop greater clarity around how the growth agenda is going 

to be shaped.  They need to ensure the ambitions are clear and that the resources 
necessary to deliver them are identified and focused appropriately.   

 

 The chance should now be taken to drive forward whatever is felt to be important 
from devolution that can be achieved without legislative reform.   

 

 The councils need to ensure the strong and effective leadership they have 

demonstrated at the regional level is mirrored at the more local level.   
 

 Cementing the stabilising political leadership in Breckland is important for the 
continued success of the council and the partnership. 

 

 The Executive Management Team is maturing and this will take a further step 
forward when a recently appointed Executive Director commences in post.  We 

would encourage the councils, at that point, to ensure there is absolute clarity in 
relation to the respective roles and responsibilities of each member of the Executive 
Management Team.   

 

 The investment in new management arrangements within Compass Point has 

served to provide a better grip on the management of the services and functions 
being delivered.  However, there is still a long way to go and Compass Point needs 

specific attention in the immediate term to address the issues that exist there. 

95

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

4 

 

 Learning from the experiences regarding the councils’ commercial and contractual 

ventures is crucial to the future success of further such initiatives – this is important 
in a context of major importance being attached to commercialisation as a key 

strand of the councils’ approach to addressing their financial challenges.  
 

 In relation to the talk of the two councils seeking to extend the shared management 

arrangements to include a third party, given the sense that the potential benefits of 
the relationship between the two councils have yet to be fully capitalised upon, the 

conclusion we have come to is that there is greater benefit to be gained at this time 
from focusing effort on consolidating the existing partnership and, through this, 

putting themselves in the best possible position to capitalise on any third party 
opportunities as and when they arise.   
 

 
3. Summary of the Peer Challenge approach  

 
The peer team  

 

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  
The make-up of the peer team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer 

challenge.  Peers were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and 
expertise and agreed with you.  The peers who delivered the peer challenge at South 
Holland District Council and Breckland Council were: 

 

 Matt Prosser, Chief Executive of North Dorset District Council, West Dorset District 

Council and Weymouth and Portland Borough Council 

 Councillor Sean Anstee, Leader of Trafford Council 

 Julia Veall, Transformation Director at Gateshead Council 

 Tracy Aarons, Deputy Chief Executive at Mendip District Council 

 Mark Pearson, Director of Business Growth at Surrey County Council 

 Stephen Cooper, Senior Adviser on Workforce, LGA 

 Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, LGA 
 
Scope and focus 

 
The peer team considered the following five questions which form the core components 

looked at by all corporate peer challenges.  These are the areas we believe are critical 
to councils’ performance and improvement:   
 

1. Understanding of the local place and priority setting: Does the council understand 
its local context and place and use that to inform a clear vision and set of 

priorities? 
 

2. Leadership of place: Does the council provide effective leadership of place 

through its elected members, officers and constructive relationships and 
partnerships with external stakeholders? 

 

96

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

5 

3. Organisational leadership and governance: Is there effective political and 
managerial leadership supported by good governance and decision-making 

arrangements that respond to key challenges and enable change and 
transformation to be implemented? 

 
4. Financial planning and viability: Does the council have a financial plan in place to 

ensure long term viability and is there evidence that it is being implemented 

successfully? 
 

5. Capacity to deliver: Is organisational capacity aligned with priorities and does the 
council influence, enable and leverage external capacity to focus on agreed 
outcomes? 

 
In addition to these questions, you asked the peer team to consider/review/provide 

feedback on: 
 

 The ‘Moving Forward’ programme 

 

 The councils’ ability to expand and extend sharing arrangements 

 

 Commercialisation 

 

 Progress the councils have made in recent years 
 

The peer challenge process 
 

It is important to stress that this was not an inspection.  Peer challenges are improvement 
focussed and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs.  They are designed to 
complement and add value to a council’s own performance and improvement.  The 

process is not designed to provide an in-depth or technical assessment of plans and 
proposals.  The peer team used their experience and knowledge of local government to 

reflect on the information presented to them by people they met, things they saw and 
material that they read.  
 

The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all 
councils will have a corporate peer challenge every 4 to 5 years.   

 
The peer team prepared for the peer challenge by reviewing a range of documents and 
information in order to ensure they were familiar with the councils and the challenges 

being faced.  The team then spent 5 days onsite with the two councils. 
 

This report provides a summary of the peer team’s findings.  It expands on the feedback 
presentation provided by the peer team at the end of their on-site visit.  In presenting 
feedback to you, they have done so as fellow local government officers and members, 

not professional consultants or inspectors.  By its nature, the peer challenge is a 
snapshot in time.  We appreciate that some of the feedback may be about things you 

are already addressing and progressing. 

97

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

6 

 

4. Feedback  
 
4.1 Progress and improvement 

 

South Holland District Council and Breckland Council have worked hard to deliver 
improvement in recent years.  Much has changed, including the appointment of a new 

Chief Executive, and significant progress has been made against the councils’  
improvement programme, which has been central to the driving forward of both 

organisations.  The improvement ambitions included: 
 

 Addressing a state of flux in, and the way the councils were ‘getting by’ in terms of, 

capacity at the Corporate Management Team level 
 

 The need to identify options of a sufficiently significant scale with which to address 
the financial challenge 

 

 Establishing a transformation programme that was ‘fit for purpose’ 
 

 Ensuring adequate reporting of performance to elected members and the public 
 

 Exploiting further opportunities within the shared arrangement, particularly in 
relation to the use of technology 

 

 Delivering ICT effectively in line with the councils’ needs  
 

 Taking stock of, and re-affirming the ambitions of, the shared management 
arrangement 

 
The councils were keen for us to consider the progress made in relation to these areas.   

 
It is clear that significant progress has been made in relation to many of these matters, 
including those concerning the financial challenge, the transformation programme and 

performance management.  It is also the case that other issues, including ICT and the 
situation with the Executive Management Team (EMT), have improved but that further 

progress is required.  We touch on all of the above aspects in more detail at various points 
later in this report.  

 

4.2 Ambitions and challenges 
 

Both councils define themselves as forward-thinking, entrepreneurial and innovative.  The 
unique cross-county boundary shared management arrangement and the ambitious 
timescales for removing both councils’ reliance on Revenue Support Grant demonstrate 

this.  The two councils strive to deliver great value for money.  Breckland has the lowest 
level of council tax amongst all district councils and it is only recently (February 2016) that 

South Holland has chosen to move away from its policy of reducing council tax.  
 
Both councils demonstrate sound financial management, as evidenced by the judgements 

of the External Auditors.  They face an on-going financial challenge, which is well 

98

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

7 

understood within both organisations, and they have delivered successfully against the 
challenges to date.  Positively, the budget situation being faced in the next few years, 

whilst clearly of crucial importance, does not dominate either authorities’ thinking .  They 
have adopted a positive approach to addressing the challenge, centred on increasing 

revenue through ‘commercialisation’ and the realisation of the huge opportunities for 
economic growth that they see existing in each district and, through this, ‘growing’ their 
way out of the problem.   

 
At the heart of the economic growth potential are the key characteristics of both places.  In 

South Holland this includes a strong economy underpinned by major industries, good 
transport connectivity, major population growth, a broad range of quality housing, the 
historic character and a good quality of life in general.  Breckland has a growing economy, 

an improving infrastructure, a strong and diverse housing market and a wide tourism offer.  
It has a low population density and is seen as an attractive and safe place to live.   

 
The challenges in both districts include meeting the demand for housing and supporting 
economic growth through the use of land, infrastructure improvement (including 

Broadband), the provision of business support and the development of skills in line with the 
needs of local employers.  There are also social challenges being faced, including the fact 

that one in seven children in Breckland is classed as living in poverty.   
 
The councils’ entrepreneurial and innovative approaches are reflected in the setting up of 

organisations and mechanisms to help address some of these challenges – Welland 
Homes in South Holland to develop housing for sale or rent and Breckland Bridge to drive 

investment and growth in that part of Norfolk.  Breckland Bridge, which is a joint venture, 
has already delivered the £8.5m Thetford Riverside leisure complex, which features a 
cinema, hotel and series of restaurants.  As well as having fulfilled a key part of the 

council's vision for Thetford, it is intended to act as a catalyst for further development both 
in the town and across the district.   

 
Both councils have helped to enable major housing developments, involving thousands of 
new homes, across their districts.  The councils have also been key partners in the 

development of the Food Enterprise Zone in Holbeach (South Holland) and the Norwich 
Cambridge Technology Corridor (Breckland) which are now coming in to being.  These all 

represent major economic growth projects that the councils should be proud of their 
involvement in. 

 

4.3 Consolidating – good building blocks 
 

Both councils are doing a good job for their residents.  Based on the performance data 
shared with us they are providing good quality services.  Their delivery of key projects, 
such as those mentioned above, is benefitting the places they serve.  However, the 

councils also recognise that there are certain areas of performance that require continued 
improvement.  The two primary examples are Planning in Breckland and Revenues and 

Benefits in South Holland.  Neither service over recent years has been at the level that the 
councils expected.  Improvements are being seen, with the councils acting jointly with 
those delivering the services to make the necessary changes, but they will need to 

continue to maintain a tight grip and look to up the pace of improvement. 
 

99

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

8 

The councils’ approach to performance management has gone through significant change 
and improvement in the last few years.  A new performance management system 

(Covalent) has been implemented and there is regular formal reporting of performance to 
elected members, including the Performance Boards that are held in each council on a six-

weekly basis.  Some Portfolio Holders are now even accessing Covalent for themselves 
and using this to inform their understanding of the services and functions they have 
responsibility for, provide constructive challenge and inform discussion.   

 
The councils are increasingly utilising data and intelligence at the corporate level to inform 

activity.  This includes socio-demographic data available nationally, such as Acorn data, 
which helps to inform understanding of the communities being served.  This approach was 
used to develop ‘ward profiles’ for each councillor following the last local elections, which 

elected members indicated they found useful.  It has also been used to inform discussion 
and planning in relation to the ‘digital’ agenda that the councils are pursuing, helping to 

constructively challenge perceptions regarding the ‘readiness’ of the two areas for a move 
to a model in which council services are increasingly accessed on-line.  There are 
examples, that can be built upon, of the councils engaging residents directly in order to 

glean views and understanding to supplement national data and the knowledge held by 
elected members through the work in their wards. 

 
Strong and effective leadership is seen widely from both council Leaders and the Chief 
Executive.  This has been particularly noticed in the prominent roles they have played in 

relation to the ‘devolution agenda’ and in the economic growth agendas at the regional 
level, including with the Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs).  The roles the two Leaders 

play across the local government community derive significant benefit for both 
organisations and their districts not least in terms of profile and influence.   
 

The Chief Executive is visible and well engaged across both councils.  Her 
communications with staff using a range of different mechanisms, including regular staff 

conferences open to all, the ‘Ask Anna’ question and answer on-line forum and frequent 
written communications, are very much valued.  External partners also value the way in 
which she engages with them, with this being particularly notable in relation to those we 

spoke to at the regional and sub-regional level.  
 

It is readily apparent that there is a huge amount going on across both councils and the 
areas they serve and there is good partnership working in both districts.  However, there is 
a need for the ambitions in the councils’ corporate plans regarding the growth agenda, 

along with how it is going to be shaped, to be more clearly articulated.  We found it difficult 
to understand the overall picture of how the extensive activity at an operational and 

individual project level aligns with overall strategy, generating a risk of it being difficult for 
the two councils to determine where and how to focus.  We expand upon this point later in 
the report.  

 
Both councils have good quality elected members and there are positive relationships 

between councillors and officers at all levels.  We were impressed by those elected 
members that we met.  They are well informed and knowledgeable about issues facing 
their local communities, their council and local government generally and demonstrated a 

strong appetite to tackle difficult issues.  There is investment by both councils in elected 
member training and development, reflected in Breckland having secured Charter Plus 

100

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

9 

status for the Councillor Development Charter and South Holland committed to achieving 
the same. 

 
Overview and Scrutiny in South Holland is fulfilling a positive role.  The Policy 

Development Panel is helping to shape the council’s approach to significant issues, 
including the ‘digital agenda’.  The Performance Monitoring Panel is focused on issues that 
are felt to be important in the district, including having looked at the quality of service 

provision at the swimming pool and the performance of Compass Point Business Services 
Limited, a company jointly owned and controlled by the council and East Lindsey District 

Council and created in 2010 to deliver front and back office services.  The time it has been 
taking the council to turn around ‘void’ council houses ready for the next tenants has been 
jointly considered by both Panels and significant improvements have resulted.  Those 

elected members that we spoke to who sit on the Panels feel that there is further potential 
for Overview and Scrutiny and they are keen to explore it.   

 
In Breckland, Overview and Scrutiny is now starting to be shaped to play a more 
meaningful role.  Under the recently appointed Chair, a more strategic approach is being 

sought for the work of the Committee in order to ensure it is focused on the issues that are 
going to make the greatest difference in the council and the district.    

 
The political leadership is stabilising in Breckland.  This follows a change of Leader less 
than nine months ago and subsequent changes in the make-up of the Cabinet.  Cementing 

that stability is important for the continued success of the council and the partnership. 
 

The situation with EMT has improved in recent years, with a state of flux previously 
existing and the councils ‘getting by’ in terms of capacity at the corporate management 
team level.  The team is maturing and this will take a further step forward when a recently 

appointed Executive Director for Growth and Commercialisation commences in post early 
in the New Year.  We would encourage the councils, at that point, to ensure there is 

absolute clarity in relation to the respective roles and responsibilities of each member of 
the EMT.  There are a couple of key aspects to this.   
 

The first aspect is ensuring any possible blurring of roles is avoided, reflected for example 
in the incoming Executive Director being responsible for Growth and Commericalisation, 

whilst another Executive Director colleague is over-seeing the councils’ ‘Moving Forward’ 
programme which includes all of the councils’ key growth projects.  The second aspect is 
ensuring the expectations of the way the Executive Director roles are to be fulfilled are 

mutually understood between the post-holders and the Chief Executive.  For example, how 
does the interface with the Leaders take place?  Is it on a needs-based, issue by issue 

basis where all of the individuals in the EMT engage as necessary, or is it more a question 
of the Chief Executive taking the lead on behalf of the team?  Similarly, with the Chief 
Executive being very visible across both organisations, what are the expectations around, 

and respective responsibilities of, Executive Directors in terms of internal communications 
activity and visibility? 

 
Staff across both organisations generally feel well managed, valued and involved.  The 
internal communications mechanisms that we highlighted earlier, led by the Chief 

Executive, assist greatly with making people feel informed, engaged and appreciated.  
Staff that we spoke to also feel an increasing sense of empowerment, part of which relates 

101

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

10 

to the commercialisation agenda being pursued by both councils, which encourages them 
to come up with ideas around improving the way the councils work and generating income. 

   
There is generally a positive view amongst staff regarding the training and development 

investment made in them.  The large majority of the staff that we spoke to felt that their 
needs were appropriately identified and the council sought to meet them.  There was, 
however, a sense that this was more straightforward for those working in an area where 

there was an obvious professional development route.  It is also the case that there is seen 
to be some variability from one manager to another in terms of the training and 

development opportunities they afford to people.      
 
Considerable effort is going in to improving the approach to people management in the 

councils.  Both organisations have recently been reviewing their full range of HR policies 
and each is set to adopt a revised HR Policy Handbook early in 2017.  The approach to 

performance and development appraisals is seen to be much improved from before, with 
increased uptake, but further refinement is planned.  An increasing emphasis is being 
placed on sickness absence management, in order to make this more rigorous.        

 
Similar effort is being put in to enhancing both councils’ ICT effectiveness.  The 

improvements and progress made thus far have focused on putting in place the core 
underpinning systems and technologies necessary to provide a reliable and suitably 
advanced ICT capability.  As a consequence, what has been delivered to date has not yet 

made a tangible difference to staff but this will start to change over the coming months. 
 

It is really positive that, even beyond those service areas and functions that operate under 
shared management, there is good networking, sharing and cross-fertilisation of ideas 
between the two councils.  This doesn’t just apply to officers, who welcome the opportunity 

to learn from colleagues in another council in a different county, but also to elected 
members who have undertaken several visits to glean ideas and see alternative ways of 

doing things.  This is not a formally established element or requirement of the shared 
arrangement – rather it is people making such exchanges happen because they are keen 
to learn.   

 
Despite this, and the many other successes of the shared arrangement, there is still a 

sense that the potential benefits of the relationship between the two councils have yet to 
be fully capitalised upon.  There are back office functions, particularly HR and ICT, where 
there could be greater integration of systems and approaches.  The complexity of the 

councils’ operating models are a challenge here but things are moving forward as 
reflected, for example, by the decision not to extend the contract for the provision of 

Breckland’s ICT through a third party and instead to bring this back in-house in order to 
have more direct control and influence.   
 

In South Holland, there are certain commercial ventures and contractual arrangements that 
have not delivered to the level envisaged.  The two primary examples are Compass Point 

and Welland Homes.  Compass Point delivers ICT, HR, Customer Services, Revenues and 
Benefits and Financial Services, whilst Welland Homes was established to develop 
housing for sale or rent within the district.  Neither has delivered as successfully as was 

envisaged.  The reasons for this cover the whole breadth of the scoping, implementation, 
monitoring and management of these initiatives.   

102

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

11 

 
Compass Point needs specific attention in the immediate term to address issues.  The 

council has recently invested in new management arrangements within Compass Point 
and this has served to provide a better grip on the management of the services and 

functions being delivered but there is still a long way to go.  Revenues and Benefits 
performance, for example, whilst improving, remains unsatisfactory.  In addition, there is a 
sense of Compass Point ‘being in a vacuum’ at present, with a real lack of clarity regarding 

its strategic direction and longer-term future.  This is frustrating for, and having a negative 
impact upon, people working there – and potentially therefore on resident experience. 

 
Breckland’s commercial and contractual ventures have encountered fewer difficulties than 
those in South Holland but there are some issues which still require resolution.  As we 

have already touched upon earlier in this report, the Planning function, which is contracted 
out, has not been performing in the way anticipated but progress is now being seen with an 

improvement plan having been established with the provider and the council having a 
tighter grip on things.  Breckland Bridge takes responsibility for the strategic management 
and development of the council’s non-operational property assets.  A very good start has 

been made with the three initial projects, involving the development of Thetford Riverside 
(which we outlined earlier in this report) and residential housing schemes in Mileham and 

Attleborough.  However, there is not yet any clarity regarding the next set of projects to be 
delivered and this needs to be addressed if the joint venture is to flourish. 
 

Learning from all of the experiences outlined here relating to commercial and contractual 
ventures is crucial to the future success of further such initiatives in both councils.  This is 

important in a context of major importance being attached to commercialisation as a key 
strand of the councils’ approach to addressing their financial challenges.  Getting the 
scoping of such initiatives right, ensuring a smooth and successful implementation and 

then monitoring them carefully, and applying the necessary management rigour where 
things are off track or the strategic direction risks becoming unclear, is vital.  Linked to this, 

getting both the political oversight and operational governance right is essential in order to 
ensure the implementation and successful on-going delivery of the councils’ key projects 
and programmes. 

 
4.4 Delivering future ambitions 

 

Addressing the councils’ financial challenges is dependent upon the successful delivery of 
growth (central to which is economic growth) and commercialisation and, through this, 

increasing revenue.  Both councils have demonstrated their commitment to this approach 
by making significant investment funding available to support it, including investment 

funding for commercial acquisitions, the use of property assets to aid regeneration and 
growth and revenue funding to enable the bringing in of additional capacity and expertise 
where necessary to support the delivery of the councils’ key projects, including the ‘Moving 

Forward’ programme. 
 

‘Moving Forward’ is a single over-arching programme containing all of the councils’ growth 
and commercialisation initiatives and an internal change element looking at changing and 
improving how both organisations operate.  This means that the programme is very broad.  

In both councils, good progress is being made in relation to the internal change aspects.  It 
is acknowledged by the council, though, that much of what is included in this strand is 

103

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

12 

either ‘business as usual’ or ‘playing catch up’ in relation to what many other councils are 
already delivering.  Examples include two of the mainstays of the programme – service 

reviews to identify efficiencies and alternative ways of working and, through ‘digitalisation’, 
increasing access to services for the public on-line. 

 
It is important to ensure there is clarity regarding what needs to be focused on in relation to 
‘Moving Forward’, what it is that is being sought from the programe and where the 

respective responsibilities and accountabilities lie.  There is a question on our part as to 
whether the ‘business as usual’ elements need to be included in the programme.  Based 

on our discussions, we see a need for greater clarity in relation to the intended outcomes 
from the programme and who leads what within the senior management team.  With such 
a broad programme, things need to move forward in a way that is cohesive and 

complementary, with people working effectively together to make them happen and with 
interdependencies clearly recognised.  There also needs to be clarity regarding how 

achieving each strand is resourced.  It will be important to develop, over the coming 
months, a clear sense of how use of the available funding for additional capacity and 
expertise needs to be prioritised.  We understand this will be looked at in the early part of 

the New Year.   
 

As ‘Moving Forward’ gathers momentum, it is important to ensure staff can see the benefits 
that will be derived for local people, the services they are delivering and themselves and 
that they have a stake in the changes that take place.  This will be important in order to 

prevent staff coming to feel change is being ‘done to them’ and to avoid ‘change fatigue’. 
     

We see a need for greater clarity around what the focus of ‘commercialisation’ is.  This is a 
key part of the ‘Moving Forward’ programme.  ‘Commercialisation’ appears ingrained in 
Breckland, with staff at all levels being able to articulate it as generating income and 

increasing efficiency and seeing this as a key part of their role.  The agenda is not as well 
embedded in South Holland, with less clarity around what ‘commercialisation’ involves.   

 
In a similar vein, and as we outlined earlier, we see a need for the ambitions in the 
councils’ corporate plans regarding the growth agenda, along with how it is going to be 

shaped, to be more clearly articulated.  It is undoubtedly the case that strong and effective 
leadership, and good engagement in partnerships, has been seen from the councils in 

relation to devolution and economic growth at the regional level.  Ensuring this is mirrored 
at the more local level is important.  As an example, we were struck by the positivity and 
willingness of the private sector partners that we met in South Holland and their desire to 

work with the council and others to help to increase prosperity and provide opportunities 
for young people.  However, they felt they were struggling to engage strategically with the 

council and others around skills and employment.   
 
Whilst devolution has not come to fruition in either place, both councils, as we outlined 

earlier, are seen to have played an influential role.  Through the efforts of both council 
Leaders and the Chief Executive, relationships with other local authorities and the two 

councils’ reputations have been enhanced.  Key agendas, including social care and waste, 
have been progressed and the councils have demonstrated the ability to operate at a 
strategic level across a wider geography.  The chance should now be taken to drive 

forward whatever is felt to be important from devolution that can be achieved without 
legislative reform.  Doing so is likely to deliver significant reward but there is a capacity 

104

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

13 

challenge around doing so that the councils will need to work through in order to determine 
how best to continue to engage at this level.  

 
In relation to the talk of the two councils seeking to extend the shared management 

arrangements to include a third party, the conclusion we have come to is that there is 
greater benefit to be gained at this time from focusing on consolidating the existing 
partnership and, through this, putting themselves in the best possible position to capitalise 

on any third party opportunities as and when they arise.   
 

 

5. Next steps  
 

Immediate next steps  
 

We appreciate the senior managerial and political leadership will want to reflect on 
these findings and suggestions in order to determine how the organisation wishes to 
take things forward.  

 
As part of the peer challenge process, there is an offer of further activity to support this. 

The LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and guidance on a number 
of the areas for development and improvement and we would be happy to discuss this.  
Gary Hughes, Principal Adviser, is the main contact between the two councils and the 

Local Government Association (LGA).  
 

In the meantime we are keen to continue the relationship we have formed with the 
councils throughout the peer challenge.   
 

Follow up visit  
 

The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge process includes a follow-up visit. The purpose of 
the visit is to help the councils assess the impact of the peer challenge and demonstrate 
the progress that has been made against the areas of improvement and development 

identified by the peer team.  It is a lighter-touch version of the original visit and does not 
necessarily involve all members of the original peer team.  The timing of the visit is 

determined by the councils.  Our expectation is that it will occur within the next 2 years.  
 
Next Corporate Peer Challenge 

 

The current LGA sector-led improvement support offer includes an expectation that all 

councils will have a corporate peer challenge or finance peer review every 4 to 5 years.  
It is therefore anticipated that the councils will commission their next peer challenge by 
2021.   
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

105

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

14 

 

Annex – Contents of the feedback presentation delivered to the 

councils on Friday 16th December 2016 
 

Progress and improvement 

 

 The previous corporate peer challenge three years ago highlighted the following as 
key areas for improvement: 

 
– A state of flux and ‘getting by’ in terms of capacity at the Corporate Management 

Team level 

 
– Identifying options of a sufficiently significant scale with which to address the 

financial challenge 
 
– A transformation programme defined as ‘not fit for purpose’  

 
– Inadequate reporting of performance to elected members and the public 

 
– Exploiting further opportunities within the shared arrangement, particularly in 

relation to the use of technology 

 
– A failure to deliver ICT effectively in line with the councils’ needs – requiring a 

solution urgently  
 

– Take stock of, and re-affirm the ambitions of, the shared  management 

arrangement 
 

 Significant progress has clearly been made in relation to many of these matters but 
some issues still exist   

 
Ambitions and challenges 

 

 Both councils define themselves as forward-thinking, entrepreneurial and innovative 
 

 They strive to deliver great value for money 

 

 Huge opportunities for economic growth are seen to exist in each district 

 

 Both councils face an on-going financial challenge but they have delivered against it 

successfully to date and the budget situation, whilst clearly of crucial importance, 
does not dominate either authorities’ thinking 

 

 Both councils are ambitious in their timescales for removing their reliance on 
Revenue Support Grant 

 

 A positive approach is being taken to addressing the financial challenges – centred 

on increasing revenue through ‘growth and commercialisation’  

106

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

15 

 

 Key characteristics of South Holland as a place include a good quality of life, a 

broad range of quality housing, good transport connectivity, historic character, major 
population growth, a buoyant economy underpinned by major industries 

 

 Key characteristics of Breckland include it being an attractive and safe place to live, 

low population density, a growing economy, improving infrastructure, a strong and 
diverse housing market and a diverse tourism offer 

 

 The challenges in both districts include the demand for housing and supporting 
economic growth through land use, infrastructure, business support and skills 

 

 There are a number of key projects that the councils should be proud of their 
involvement in: 

 
– Thetford Riverside 

– Enabling major housing developments across both districts 
– Food Enterprise Zone in Holbeach 
– Norwich to Cambridge Technology Corridor  

  
Consolidating – good building blocks 

 

 The anecdotal evidence is that both councils are doing a good job for their residents 

– good services, delivery of key projects, good quality of life 
 

 However, the councils recognise there are certain areas of performance that require 

continued improvement – pace and grip 
 

 The councils’ approach to performance management has gone through significant 
change and improvement since the previous corporate peer challenge    

 

 The councils are increasingly utilising data and intelligence at the corporate level to 
inform activity but is still limited in the way it engages residents directly in order to 

supplement the knowledge held by elected members 
 

 Both councils demonstrate sound financial management 
 

 Strong and effective leadership is seen widely from both Leaders and the Chief 

Executive 
 

 The roles the two Leaders play in wider local government and beyond derive benefit 
for both organisations – profile and influence 

 

 The Chief Executive is visible and her engagement across both councils and with 
partners is valued 

 

 In Breckland, the political leadership is stabilising and this is important for the 

continued success of the council 
 

107

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

16 

 Both councils have good quality elected members and there are positive 
relationships between councillors and officers 

 

 There is investment in elected member training and development 

 

 Overview and Scrutiny in South Holland is fulfilling a positive role and has further 

potential, whilst in Breckland it is now starting to be shaped to play a more 
meaningful role   
 

 The situation with the Executive Management Team has improved since the 
previous corporate peer challenge and the team is maturing 

 

 Staff across both organisations feel well managed, valued and involved, with a 

sense of empowerment and engagement 
 

 There is a positive view amongst staff regarding the training and development 

investment made in them 
 

 Considerable effort is going in to improving the approach to people management in 
the councils 

 

 The same applies to ICT, although the improvements and progress made thus far 
have not yet made a tangible difference to staff but this will start to change over the 

coming months 
 

 Out-with the shared management, there is good networking, sharing and cross-
fertilisation of ideas between the two councils – with people making these happen 
on an informal basis 

 

 The potential benefits of the relationship between the two councils have still yet to 

be fully capitalised upon – the complexity of the councils’ operating models are a 
challenge here but things are moving forward 

 

 There is good partnership delivery at the operational level in both districts 
 

 There is clearly a huge amount going on across both councils but it is difficult to see 
clearly the ‘strategic whole’ – making it difficult to determine where and how to focus 

and how strategy aligns with activity at an operational and project level 
 

 In South Holland, there are certain commercial ventures and contractual 

arrangements that have not delivered to the level envisaged 
 

 The reasons for this cover the whole breadth of the scoping, implementation, 
monitoring and management of these initiatives 

 

 Breckland’s similar such ventures have encountered fewer difficulties but there are 

some issues which still require resolution 
 

108

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

17 

 Compass Point needs specific attention in the immediate term to address issues – 
at the present time there is a sense of it ‘being in a vacuum’ despite the investment 

made recently in new management arrangements 
 

 Learning from these experiences is crucial to the future success of further such 
initiatives 

 

 Political oversight and operational governance is essential in order to ensure the 
implementation and successful on-going delivery of the councils’ key projects and 

programmes 
 
Delivering future ambitions 

 

 Addressing the councils’ financial challenges is dependent upon the successful 

delivery of ‘(economic) growth and commercialisation’ 
 

 Both councils have demonstrated their commitment to this approach by making 
significant investment funding available to support it  

 

 Growth and commercialisation form a major strand of the ‘Moving Forward’ 
programme – along with a ‘transformation’ element including service reviews and 

digitalisation 
 

 In both councils, good progress is being made in relation to the transformation 
aspects – although what exists there is recognised as ‘playing catch up’ and 

includes a lot that is ‘business as usual’ 
 

 As transformation moves forward, it is important to ensure people see the benefits 

that will be derived for them rather than coming to feel change is being ‘done to 
them’ – ‘change fatigue’     

 

 Whilst ‘commercialisation’ appears ingrained in Breckland, it is less embedded 
within South Holland 

 

 The ‘Moving Forward’ agenda in both council areas is very broad – clarity is 

required on what needs to be focussed on, how the investment that is available is 
best utilised, the councils’ approaches to place leadership and how they work with 

others at the strategic level to achieve success  
 

 Central to this is greater clarity around what the focus of ‘commercialisation’ is and 

how economic growth is going to be shaped 

 Whilst Devolution has not come to fruition in either place, both councils are seen to 

have played an influential role, their relationships with others and their reputations 
have been enhanced and key agendas have progressed 
 

 The chance should now be taken to drive forward whatever is felt to be important 
from Devolution that can be achieved without legislative reform 

 

109

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 

 

18 

 Through the Devolution process, the councils have demonstrated an ability to 
operate at a strategic level across a wider geography – continuing to do so is likely 

to deliver significant reward but there is a capacity challenge around doing so 
 

 In relation to the talk of the two councils seeking to extend the shared management 
arrangements to include a third party, the conclusion we have come to is that there 

is greater benefit to be gained at this time from focusing on consolidating the 
existing partnership  

 

110

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Cabinet Minutes
	Minutes

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	Minutes

	10 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	11 Committee of the Licensing Authority
	Minutes

	12 Licensing Committee
	Minutes

	13 Governance & Audit Committee
	Minutes

	14 Review of Local Standards Arrangements
	Appendix A - Code of conduct - 060417
	Appendix B - DraftRevisedLocalArrangements 060417
	Appendix C - DraftComplaintForm - 060417
	Appendix D - StandardsHearingProcedureDistrict 060417
	Appendix E - StandardsHearingProcedureParish 060417

	15 Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor (CNTC)
	Enc. 1 for Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor (CNTC)

	16 LGA Corporate Peer Review Report
	Appendix A - LGA Report


